

August 2016

VA IT MANAGEMENT

Organization Is Largely Centralized; Additional Actions Could Improve Human Capital Practices and Systems Development Processes

GAO Highlights

Highlights of GAO-16-403, a report to congressional requesters

Why GAO Did This Study

VA relies extensively on IT to deliver services to millions of our nation's veterans. VA reported spending approximately \$3.9 billion in 2015 and received appropriations of approximately \$4.1 billion in 2016 to improve and maintain its IT resources. Even as the department has engaged in various attempts to improve its IT management capabilities, GAO has issued numerous reports that highlighted challenges in its efforts.

This study was to determine (1) how VA is organized to manage and perform key IT-related functions and the extent to which it has centralized the management of IT resources, (2) the extent to which VA has implemented effective IT human capital management, and (3) the extent to which VA has established key processes to effectively manage major system development and acquisition efforts. To conduct its study, GAO reviewed VA policies, procedures, and other documentation and compared the department's processes to best practices for human capital management and IT systems development and acquisition. GAO also interviewed VA officials.

What GAO Recommends

GAO is recommending that VA take two actions to assist the department in sustaining a workforce with the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities to execute its mission and goals, as well as six actions to assist the department in developing comprehensive processes that reflect systems development best practices. VA generally agreed with GAO's conclusions and concurred with GAO's eight recommendations.

View GAO-16-403. For more information, contact Valerie C. Melvin at (202) 512-6304 or melvinv@gao.gov

VA IT MANAGEMENT

Organization Is Largely Centralized; Additional Actions Could Improve Human Capital Practices and Systems Development Processes

What GAO Found

The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) performs key information technology (IT)-related functions, such as leadership, strategic planning, systems development and acquisition, and systems operations and maintenance, largely through its centralized Office of Information & Technology (OI&T), led by the Chief Information Officer (CIO). VA's two IT governance boards are intended to play a role in other key functions, such as investment management. Nevertheless, the department faced challenges in effectively managing IT, including (1) preventing IT activities from occurring outside the control of OI&T, (2) maintaining collaboration between OI&T and business units, and (3) delivering efficient and cost-effective IT capabilities. In response to these and other challenges, the CIO initiated an effort in January 2016 to transform OI&T into a more veteran-focused organization that emphasized transparency, accountability, innovation, and teamwork. The transformation strategy calls for OI&T to stabilize and streamline core processes and platforms, mitigate weaknesses from information security and GAO assessments, and improve outcomes by institutionalizing a new set of IT management capabilities. The CIO intends to complete the transformation by the first quarter of 2017.

Key to an agency's success in effectively managing its IT systems is sustaining a workforce with the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities to execute a range of management functions that support its mission and goals. VA took steps to implement effective IT human capital practices by documenting an IT human capital strategic plan and initiating an update based on changed priorities, analyzing workforce data, identifying skill gaps for the current year, and implementing an IT training program. However, OI&T had not consistently implemented all of these practices. Specifically, the office had not (1) tracked and reviewed historical and projected leadership retirements and (2) identified skills and competencies needed beyond the current year. Without annually tracking and reviewing data related to leadership retirements or identifying skills needed in future years, OI&T faces a risk of being unprepared to effectively respond to vacancies in key positions and not having the capabilities to deliver IT support that can contribute to improved services for veterans.

Key to successful development and acquisition of IT services is establishing documented processes that reflect best practices. Although there were gaps in some areas, VA's processes generally included best practices for project validation, project planning, requirements management, risk management, project monitoring and control, and process and product quality assurance. In addition, processes for developing and maintaining a project schedule had not fully addressed the majority of the associated best practices. Ensuring that these processes address all key practices will assist the department in effectively managing its IT system development and acquisitions.

Contents

Letter		1
	Background	3
	VA Manages and Performs Key IT-Related Functions through a Largely Centralized Organization, Which Is Taking Steps to Address Challenges	12
	VA Generally Implemented IT Human Capital Management Best Practices but Has Not Projected Leadership Retirements or Fully Identified Skill Gaps	26
	VA Documented Processes to Manage IT System Development and Acquisitions, but Gaps Existed	36
	Conclusions	55
	Recommendations for Executive Action	55
	Agency Comments and Our Evaluation	56
Appendix I	Objectives, Scope, and Methodology	59
Appendix II	Timeline of VA's Efforts to Organize the Management of IT Functions	62
Appendix III	Summary of VA's Office of Information & Technology Human Capital	
	Goals, Objectives, and Strategies	64
Appendix IV	Comments from the Department of Veterans Affairs	67
Appendix V	GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments	73
Tables		
	Table 1: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information & Technology (OI&T) Organizational Units and Number of	
	Supporting Employees and Contractor Staff Table 2: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information & Technology's Ten 10 Technical Skill Core Identified in	17
	2015 and 2016 Analyses	32

Table 3: Project Planning Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes	38
Table 4: Requirements Management Criteria Incorporated in the	
Office of Information & Technology's Documented	
Processes	39
Table 5: Risk Management Criteria incorporated in the Office of	40
Information & Technology's Documented Processes	42
Table 6: Project Monitoring and Control Criteria Incorporated in	
The Onice of Information & Technology's Documented	
PIOCESSES	44
Table 7: Validation Chiefia Incorporated In the Office of	47
Table 9. Brasses and Braduet Quality Assurance Criteria	47
Table 6. Process and Product Quality Assurance Chiefla	
Desumented Pressesses	40
Table 0: Four Characteristics of a High Quality Baliable Schedule	49
Table 9. Four Characteristics of a Fligh-Quality, Reliable Schedule	50
Table 10: Project Scheduling Characteristics and Their Acceptated	50
Rest Practices Addressed in the Office of Information &	
Technology's (OI&T) Documented Processes	52
Table 11: Timeline of Department of Veterans Affairs Efforts to	52
Organize its IT Functions	62
Table 12: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information &	02
Technology (OI&T) Human Capital Coals, Objectives, and	
Strategies	64
Onalogica	04

Figures

Figure 1: Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Office of	
Information & Technology Organization through March	
2016	16
Figure 2: Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Office of	
Information & Technology Organization as of April 2016	25

Abbreviations

CIO CMMI® DOD EPMO HCAAF IT	chief information officer Capability Maturity Model® Integration Department of Defense Enterprise Program Management Office Human Capital Assessment and Accountability Framework information technology
NCA	National Cemetery Administration
OI&T	Office of Information & Technology
OPM	Office of Personnel Management
PMAS	Project Management Accountability System
SEI	Software Engineering Institute
VA	Department of Veterans Affairs
VBA	Veterans Benefits Administration
VHA	Veterans Health Administration
VistA	Veterans Health Information Systems and Technology Architecture
VIP	Veteran-focused Integration Process

This is a work of the U.S. government and is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. The published product may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without further permission from GAO. However, because this work may contain copyrighted images or other material, permission from the copyright holder may be necessary if you wish to reproduce this material separately.

U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE

441 G St. N.W. Washington, DC 20548

August 17, 2016

The Honorable Mike Coffman Chairman Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations Committee on Veterans Affairs House of Representatives

The Honorable Doug Lamborn House of Representatives

The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) provides services and benefits, such as medical care and compensation, education, and burial benefits, to millions of veterans and their families each year. To accomplish this, the department relies extensively on information technology (IT) systems.

However, we have previously reported on challenges that VA has experienced in managing its IT projects and initiatives, including cost overruns, schedule slippages, and performance problems.¹ To address these challenges, the department has, over many years, engaged in initiatives aimed at realigning its IT program to provide greater authority and accountability for its resources. In doing so, its goals were to, among other things, centralize IT management under a department-level chief information officer (CIO) and standardize budgets, operations, and the development of systems using new management processes based on industry best practices.

Recognizing the important role that IT plays in supporting VA's mission, you asked us to examine the department's current IT organization. Specifically, our objectives were to determine (1) how VA is organized to manage and perform key IT-related functions and the extent to which it has centralized the management of IT resources, (2) the extent to which

¹For example, GAO, *Electronic Health Records: VA and DOD Need to Support Cost and Schedule Claims, Develop Interoperability Plans, and Improve Collaboration,* GAO-14-302 (Washington, D.C., Feb. 27, 2014); *VA Surgical Implants: Purchase Requirements Were Not Always Followed at Selected Medical Centers and Oversight Needs Improvement,* GAO-14-146 (Washington, D.C., Jan. 13, 2014); and *Information Technology: Management Improvements Are Essential to VA's Second Effort to Replace Its Outpatient Scheduling System,* GAO-10-579 (Washington, D.C., May 27, 2010).

VA has implemented effective IT human capital management, and (3) the extent to which VA has established key processes to effectively manage major system development and acquisition efforts.

To address the first objective, we obtained and reviewed the department's documentation identifying and describing its IT organizational structure and functions. These included the IT strategic plan, governance plan, organization chart, and organizational descriptions. In addition, we reviewed memoranda; testimony from VA officials, such as current and previous secretaries and CIOs; and assessment reports that described the department's efforts to centralize the management of its IT resources. We also interviewed responsible program officials regarding the organizational structure and performance of key functions.

To address the second objective, we reviewed information describing the department's management of its IT human capital, such as human capital strategic planning documentation, skills gap analyses, and human capital performance measures. We assessed the department's actions against selected best practices that we and the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) have identified, and against practices required by VA's Office of Human Resources and Administration. These included selected practices for effective strategic human capital planning, workforce planning, and strategic training. The practices are identified in our *Key Principles for Effective Strategic Workforce Planning*;² OPM's final regulations to implement certain provisions of the Chief Human Capital Officers Act of 2002;³ and VA's workforce and succession planning directive.⁴ We also interviewed officials responsible for the department's IT human capital management.

For the third objective, we reviewed policies, procedures, and supporting documentation describing the department's key processes for managing major system development and acquisition efforts. We assessed the processes against selected best practices that the Software Engineering

²GAO, *Human Capital: Key Principles for Effective Strategic Workforce Planning*, GAO-04-39 (Washington, D.C., Dec. 11, 2003).

³73 Fed. Reg. 23012 (Apr. 28, 2008).

⁴VA, VA Directive 5002: Department of Veterans Affairs Workforce and Succession *Planning* (Washington, D.C., Jan. 15, 2003).

Institute (SEI) and we have identified. These included recognized practices for project planning, requirements management, risk management, project monitoring and control, project validation, quality assurance, and project schedules. These practices are identified in SEI's *Capability Maturity Model*® *Integration (CMMI*®) *for Development, Version 1.3*; SEI's *CMMI*® *for Acquisition, Version 1.3*;⁵ and our *Schedule Assessment Guide*.⁶ Further, we reviewed system development lifecycle policies, procedures, and other supporting documentation, such as templates for required project artifacts within the department's ProPath system⁷ and Project Management Accountability System (PMAS).⁸ A full description of our objectives, scope, and methodology can be found in appendix I.

We conducted this performance audit from February 2015 to August 2016 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

Background

VA's mission is to promote the health, welfare, and dignity of all veterans in recognition of their service to the nation by ensuring they receive

⁵SEI, *CMMI*® for Development, Version 1.3, CMU/SEI-2010-TR-033 (November 2010, Hanscom AFB, Mass.) and *CMMI*® for Acquisition, Version 1.3, CMU/SEI-2010-TR-032 (November 2010, Hanscom AFB, Mass.). The SEI is a federally funded research and development center operated by Carnegie Mellon University.

⁶GAO, Schedule Assessment Guide: Best Practices for Project Schedules, GAO-16-89G (Washington, D.C.: December 2015).

⁷ProPath is a repository for systems development artifacts, procedures, and processes.

⁸PMAS is VA's approach to IT project development and delivery and the means of holding IT project managers accountable for meeting cost, schedule, and scope. PMAS was designed to reduce project implementation risks, institute monitoring and controls, establish accountability, and create a reporting discipline. In January 2016, VA began transitioning from PMAS to the Veteran-focused Integration Process (VIP). VA plans to modify the Department's current methodology into a single, unified, and streamlined release process that will focuses on delivering high-quality and secure IT capabilities to the veteran. VA plans to complete the transition to VIP by the end of fiscal year 2016. More information about VIP can be found later in this report.

	medical care, benefits, social support, and lasting memorials. It is the second largest federal department and, in addition to its central office located in Washington, D.C., has field offices throughout the United States, as well as the U.S. territories and the Philippines.
	The department's three major components—the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA), the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), and the National Cemetery Administration (NCA)—are primarily responsible for carrying out its mission. More specifically, VBA provides a variety of benefits to veterans and their families, including disability compensation, educational opportunities, assistance with home ownership, and life insurance. VHA provides health care services, including primary care and specialized care, and it performs research and development to improve veterans' needs. Lastly, NCA provides burial and memorial benefits to veterans and their families.
	Collectively, the three components rely on approximately 340,000 employees to provide services and benefits. These employees work in 167 VA medical centers, approximately 1,200 community-based outpatient clinics, 300 veterans centers, 56 regional offices, and 131 national and 90 state or tribal cemeteries situated throughout the nation.
VA Relies Extensively on Information Technology	VA operates and maintains an IT infrastructure that is intended to provide the backbone necessary to meet the day-to-day operational needs of its medical centers, veteran-facing systems, benefits delivery systems, memorial services, and all other IT systems supporting the department's mission. The infrastructure is to provide for data storage, transmission, and communications requirements necessary to ensure delivery of reliable, available, and responsive support to all VA staff offices and administration customers, as well as veterans.
	In this regard, the department operates approximately 240 information systems, manages 314,000 desktop computers and 30,000 laptops, and administers nearly 460,000 network user accounts for employees and contractors to facilitate providing benefits and health care to veterans. These systems are used for the determination of benefits, benefits claims

processing, patient admission to hospitals and clinics, patient care through telehealth,⁹ and access to health records, among other services.

For example, VBA relies on its disability benefits claims processing system—the Veterans Benefits Management System—to collect and store information such as military service records, medical examinations, and treatment records from VA, the Department of Defense, and private medical service providers. Information technology is widely used and critically important to supporting the department in delivering health care to veterans. VHA's systems provide capabilities to establish and maintain electronic health records that health care providers and other clinical staff use to view patient information in inpatient, outpatient, and long-term care settings. Specifically, the Veterans Health Information Systems and Technology Architecture, known as VistA, consists of many computer applications and modules that collect, among other things, information about a veteran's demographics, allergies, procedures, immunizations, and medical diagnoses.

In 2014, VA issued its 6-year strategic plan, which emphasizes the agency's goal of increasing veterans' access to benefits and services, eliminating the disability claims backlog, and ending veteran homelessness. According to the plan, the department intends to improve access to benefits and services through the use of improved technology to provide veterans with access to more effective care management. The plan also calls for VA to eliminate the disability claims backlog by fully implementing an electronic claims process that is intended to reduce processing time and increase accuracy. Further, the department has an initiative under way that provides services, such as health care, housing assistance, and job training, to end veteran homelessness. To this end, VA is working with other agencies, such as the Department of Health and Human Services, to implement more coordinated data entry systems to streamline and facilitate access to appropriate housing and services.

⁹Telehealth includes telemedicine, which is the use of medical information exchanged from one site to another via electronic communications (such as video or e-mail) to improve a patient's clinical health status through, for example, provision of health care services or clinical monitoring. Telehealth can include telemental health—the provision of mental health services to patients living in remote locations or otherwise underserved areas.

VA reported spending approximately \$3.9 billion to improve and maintain its IT resources in fiscal year 2015. Specifically, the department reported spending approximately \$548 million on new systems development efforts, approximately \$2.3 billion on maintaining existing systems, and approximately \$1 billion on payroll and administration.

For fiscal year 2016, the department received appropriations of approximately \$4.1 billion for IT. The department had requested approximately \$505 million for new systems development efforts, approximately \$2.5 billion for maintaining existing systems, and approximately \$1.1 billion for payroll and administration. In addition, in its 2016 budget submission the department requested appropriations for the following purposes, among others:

- improving veteran access to benefits and services (\$378.1 million);
- reducing the time it takes to process disability claims and increase accuracy (\$295.1 million);
- expanding information security (\$180.3 million);
- implementing the Veterans Access, Choice, and Accountability Act of 2014 (the Veterans Choice Act) (\$440.6 million);
- maintaining the IT infrastructure (\$1.828 billion); and
- improving VistA (\$182.6 million).

Further, for fiscal year 2017, the department's budget request included nearly \$4.3 billion for IT. The department requested approximately \$471 million for new systems development efforts, approximately \$2.5 billion for maintaining existing systems, and approximately \$1.3 billion for payroll and administration. In addition, in its 2017 budget submission, the department requested appropriations to make improvements in a number of areas, including the following:

 veterans' access to health care, to include enhancing health carerelated systems, standardizing immunization data, and expanding telehealth services (\$186.7 million);

	 veterans' access to benefits by modernizing systems supporting benefits delivery, such as the Veterans Benefits Management System and the Veterans Services Network¹⁰ (\$236.3 million); veterans' experiences with VA by focusing on integrated service delivery and streamlined identification processes (\$171.3 million); VA employees' experiences by enhancing internal IT systems (\$13 million); and information security, including implementing strong authentication, ensuring repeatable processes and procedures, adopting modern technology, and enhancing the detection of cyber vulnerabilities and protection from cyber threats (\$370.1 million).
VA Has Faced Long- Standing Challenges in IT Management	Even as the department has engaged in various attempts to improve its IT management capabilities, we have issued numerous reports that highlighted challenges facing its efforts. In February 2014, we reported that about 2 years after taking actions toward developing a single interoperable electronic health record system with the Department of Defense (DOD), VA and DOD announced that they would instead work toward modernizing their separate existing health information systems and work to ensure those systems could share information. ¹¹ However, VA proceeded with this plan without developing a cost and schedule analysis to support the assertion that pursuing a separate modernized system while enabling interoperability with DOD's system would be less expensive and could be achieved faster than developing a single system, which is contrary to best practice. We recommended that VA work with DOD to develop a cost and schedule estimate for their modernization approach, as well as their joint effort, and compare the estimates to determine which approach would cost less and take less time. VA concurred with our recommendation, but had not completed actions to address it. In addition, we reported in May 2010 that after spending an estimated \$127 million over 9 years on its outpatient scheduling system project, VA had not implemented any of the planned system's capabilities and was

¹⁰The Veterans Services Network is VA's processing and benefits payment system.

¹¹GAO-14-302.

	essentially starting over by beginning a new initiative to build or purchase another scheduling system. ¹² We also noted that VA had not developed a project plan or schedule for the new initiative, stating that it intended to do so after determining whether to build or purchase the new application. We recommended that the department take six actions to improve key systems development and acquisition processes essential to the second outpatient scheduling system effort. The department generally concurred with our recommendations, but as of May 2016, had not completed actions to implement four of the six recommendations.
Key IT-Related Functions Provide a Foundation for IT Management	Effectively managing IT needs depends on federal departments and agencies, including VA, having key functions in place. Toward this end, we have identified and reported on a set of essential and complementary functions that serve as a sound foundation for IT management. These include the following:
	 Leadership: Effective leadership, such as that of a CIO, can drive change, provide oversight, and ensure accountability for results. Congress has also recognized the importance of having a strong agency CIO. For example, as part of the Clinger-Cohen Act, Congress required executive branch agencies to establish the position of agency CIO.¹³ The act also gave these officials responsibility and accountability for IT investments, including IT acquisitions, monitoring the performance of IT programs, and advising the agency head on whether to continue, modify, or terminate such programs. More recently, in December 2014, Congress passed federal information technology acquisition reform legislation (commonly referred to as FITARA), which strengthened the role that agency CIOs are to play in managing IT.¹⁴ For instance, the law requires the head of covered

¹²GAO-10-579.

¹³Pub. L. No. 104-106, § 5125, 110 Stat. 186, 684 (Feb. 10, 1996); 40 U.S.C. § 11315 and 44 U.S.C. § 3506(a).

¹⁴Carl Levin and Howard P. "Buck" McKeon National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2015, Pub. L. No. 113-291, Div. A, Title VIII, Subtitle D, § 831, 128 Stat. 3292, 3438 (Dec. 19, 2014); 40 U.S.C. § 11319. Additionally, a 2006 law enhanced the VA CIO's responsibilities with regard to information security requirements. Department of Veterans Affairs Information Security Enhancement Act of 2006, Pub. L. No. 109-461, Title IX, 120 Stat. 3403, 3450 (2006).

agencies to ensure that the CIO has a significant role in the decision process for IT budgeting, as well as the management, governance, and oversight processes related to IT.

- Strategic planning: Strategic planning defines what an organization seeks to accomplish and identifies the strategies it will use to achieve desired results. A defined strategic planning process allows an agency to clearly articulate its strategic direction and to establish linkages among planning elements such as goals, objectives, and strategies. A well-defined IT strategic planning process helps ensure that an agency's IT goals are aligned with its strategic goals.¹⁵ Also, as part of its strategic planning efforts, an organization should develop an enterprise architecture, which is an important tool to help guide the organization toward achieving the goals and objectives in its IT strategic plan.¹⁶ In addition, the organization should implement human capital management practices to sustain a workforce with the skills necessary to execute its strategic plan.¹⁷
- Systems development and acquisition: Agencies should follow disciplined processes for developing or acquiring IT systems. These include defining the requirements that address the needs of the system users, managing project risk to identify potential problems before they occur, reliably estimating cost to help managers evaluate affordability and performance against a project's plans, and developing an integrated and reliable master schedule that defines when and how long work will occur and how each activity is related to the others, among others. Best practices in these areas have been identified by organizations such as SEI and GAO.¹⁸

¹⁷Such practices have been identified by both the Office of Personnel Management and GAO. See Office of Personnel Management, *The Human Capital Assessment and Accountability Framework—Systems, Standards, and Metrics* (http://www.opm.gov/hcaaf_resource_center/) and GAO-04-39.

¹⁸SEI, *CMMI*® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3; GAO, GAO Cost Estimating and Assessment Guide: Best Practices for Developing and Managing Capital Program Costs, GAO-09-3SP (Washington, D.C., March 2009); and GAO-16-89G.

¹⁵GAO, Social Security Administration: Improved Planning and Performance Measures Are Needed to Help Ensure Successful Technology Modernization, GAO-12-495 (Washington, D.C.: Apr. 26, 2012).

¹⁶GAO, Organizational Transformation: A Framework for Assessing and Improving Enterprise Architecture Management (Version 2.0) (Supersedes GAO-03-584G), GAO-10-846G (Washington, D.C.: August 2010).

- **Quality assurance:** Effective quality assurance supports the delivery of high-quality products by providing staff and management with appropriate visibility into, and feedback on, processes and associated work products throughout the life of a systems development or acquisition project. Quality assurance can also help ensure that planned processes are implemented as intended.¹⁹
- Systems operations and maintenance: Given the size and magnitude of the investments that executive branch agencies make in this area (nearly 60 percent of VA's reported IT spending in 2015), it is important that operations and maintenance be managed effectively to ensure that existing investments (1) continue to meet agency needs, (2) deliver value, and (3) do not duplicate or overlap with other investments.²⁰ To accomplish this, agencies are required by the Office of Management and Budget to perform annual operational analyses of these investments, which are intended to serve as periodic examinations of the investments' performance against, among other things, established costs, schedules, and performance goals.²¹
- Service management: Agencies should develop and implement a process for ensuring that IT services, such as server management and desktop support, are aligned with and actively support the business needs of the organization.²² The Information Technology Infrastructure Library²³ identifies key practices for successful service management. These include developing a service catalog that identifies all IT services delivered by the service provider, as well as

¹⁹SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

²⁰GAO, High-Risk Series: An Update, GAO-15-290 (Washington, D.C., Feb. 11, 2015).

²¹Office of Management and Budget Memorandum M-10-27 (June 2010), requires agencies to establish a policy for performing operational analysis on steady state investments as a part of managing and monitoring investment baselines.

²²Lou Hunnebeck and Colin Rudd, *ITIL: Service Design* © (London: The Stationary Office, 2011). The guide is available at: http://www.axelos.com/Publications-Library/IT-Service-Management-ITIL/.

²³Lou Hunnebeck and Colin Rudd, *ITIL: Service Design* © (London: The Stationary Office, 2011).

establishing service-level agreements between the IT service provider and its customer on the expected service-level targets.²⁴

- IT investment management: IT projects can significantly improve an organization's performance, but they can also become costly, risky, and unproductive. Agencies can maximize the value of these investments and minimize the risks of acquisitions by having an effective and efficient IT investment management and governance process, as described in GAO's guide to effective IT investment management.²⁵ Emphasizing the importance of investment management, the Clinger-Cohen Act requires executive branch agencies to establish a process for selecting, managing, and evaluating IT investments in order to maximize the value and assess and manage the risks of the acquisitions.²⁶
- Information security and privacy: Effective security for federal IT systems and data is essential to prevent data tampering, disruptions in critical operations, fraud, and inappropriate disclosure of sensitive information, including personal information entrusted to the government by members of the American public. Recognizing the importance of information security and privacy, Congress enacted the Federal Information Security Modernization Act of 2014 (FISMA 2014),²⁷ which requires executive branch agencies to develop, document, and implement an agency-wide information security

²⁴Examples of service-level targets include the hours that customers can expect the service to be available (e.g., 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday), availability of a service during the agreed service hours (e.g., 99.5 percent), and maximum number of failures or incidents that can be tolerated within an agreed time period.

²⁵GAO, Information Technology Investment Management: A Framework for Assessing and Improving Process Maturity (Supersedes AIMD-10.1.23), GAO-04-394G (Washington, D.C.: March 2004).

²⁶40 U.S.C. § 11312.

²⁷Pub. L. No. 113-283, 128 Stat. 3073 (Dec. 18, 2014).

program. ²⁸ Additionally, in order to help agencies develop such a program, the National Institute of Standards and Technology has developed guidance for information security and privacy.

VA Manages and Performs Key IT- Related Functions through a Largely Centralized Organization, Which Is Taking Steps to Address Challenges	Since 2007, VA has been operating a centralized IT organization in which most key functions intended for effective management of IT are performed by the department's Office of Information & Technology (OI&T) and led by the department-level CIO. Two department-level IT governance boards also have responsibility to assist in performing certain functions. However, the department has faced challenges to effectively managing IT using a centralized approach. These include ensuring that (1) all projects are managed and controlled by OI&T, (2) effective communication occurs between OI&T and the VA business units, and (3) new IT capabilities are delivered efficiently and cost-effectively. To address these and other challenges, the CIO recently announced a transformation initiative aimed at improving OI&T's accountability for, and focus on, achieving a more transparent and veteran-centric organization.
VA Has Largely Centralized Its Management of IT-Related Functions within OI&T	OI&T has responsibility for managing the majority of VA's IT-related functions, under a largely centralized structure that the department attempted for nearly two decades to establish. The department's efforts toward achieving a centralized management structure were strengthened when the Military Quality of Life and Veterans Affairs Appropriations Act, 2006 ²⁹ established a new appropriation account for the department's IT systems. In addition, in order to obligate or expend amounts for IT systems development, modernization, and enhancement, the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016 ³⁰ required that the Secretary or
	²⁸ The Federal Information Security Modernization Act of 2014 (FISMA 2014), Pub. L. No. 113-283, 128 Stat. 3073 (Dec. 18, 2014) partially superseded the Federal Information Security Management Act of 2002 (FISMA 2002), enacted as Title III, E-Government Act

Security Management Act of 2002 (FISMA 2002), enacted as Title III, E-Government Act of 2002, Pub. L. No. 107-347, 116 Stat. 2899, 2946 (Dec. 17, 2002). As used in this report, FISMA refers to the new requirements in FISMA 2014, FISMA 2002 requirements relevant here that were incorporated and continued in FISMA 2014 and to other relevant FISMA 2002 requirements that were unchanged by FISMA 2014 and continue in full force and effect.

²⁹Pub. L. No. 109-114, 119 Stat. 2372, 2392 (2005).

³⁰Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2016, Pub. L. No. 114-113, Div. J, Title II, 129 Stat. 2242, 2689-2690 (Dec. 18, 2015).

CIO submit to the Committees on Appropriations of both Houses of Congress a certification of the amounts to be obligated and expended for each development project.

Subsequent to the 2006 appropriations act, the Secretary of Veterans Affairs assigned control over the IT appropriation to a department-level CIO.³¹ In addition, the Secretary approved a centralized organization structure for IT-related functions in February 2007. By April 2007, all of the department's personnel that had been involved in IT operations, maintenance, and development, with the exception of those in the Office of Inspector General, were permanently assigned to OI&T. (See appendix II for a summary of key events in the history of VA's IT centralization efforts.)

The CIO serves as the head of OI&T and, accordingly, is responsible for providing effective leadership over the department's IT activities. The CIO reports directly to the Office of the Secretary of Veterans Affairs through the Deputy Secretary and advises the Secretary regarding the execution of the IT appropriation. In addition, the CIO is expected to serve as the principle advisor to top management officials, such as the Under Secretaries of each of the three administrations, on matters relating to information and technology management in the department. This official also is tasked with reviewing and approving IT investments, as well as overseeing the performance of IT programs and evaluating them to determine whether to continue, modify, or terminate a program or project.

³¹According to VA's FITARA implementation plan, not all IT-related activities are included in the IT appropriation. For example, although medical devices connect to VA's networks, they are not considered IT devices and are therefore not included in the IT appropriation. The plan also states that devices and their related services, rather than solution development, typically fall outside the scope of the IT appropriation. To mitigate this risk, the CIO is in the process of developing a policy that would require that all IT-related activities, including the purchase of medical and other devices that need to be connected to VA's networks, be approved by the CIO regardless of funding source. As of May 2016, the policy and supporting processes were undergoing review and VA did not have an estimated date for completing them.

Under the CIO's leadership, seven organizational units within OI&T had responsibility for performing and managing the other specific IT-related functions through March 2016.³²

• Architecture, Strategy, and Design: This office was responsible for the department's *IT strategic planning*. Specifically, it was tasked with providing a framework of strategies and processes to ensure IT programs and projects are designed and executed to satisfy current and future department needs.

Further, the office was tasked with performing other functions, such as the development and maintenance of an integrated technical, business, systems, and data architecture; development of systems design, engineering, and integration standards; and the examination of existing IT requirements and solutions for efficiency and potential redundancy.

• **Product Development:** *Systems development* was managed by this office. Among other things, the office was responsible for developing and testing software products, including new products and upgrades to existing legacy systems, based on defined requirements from its customers (which are the three administrations and other staff offices).

In addition to systems development, the office had responsibility for monitoring the progress of all IT projects and reporting that progress to the department's CIO and other senior leadership. This office was also tasked with developing and maintaining policies and guidance for implementing, and ensuring that responsible staff are trained in using, the department's project management and accountability system, referred to as PMAS. (This management tool is discussed in greater detail later in the report.)

• IT Resource Management: Acquisition processes and strategies were facilitated by the IT Resource Management office. Toward this end, the office was tasked with providing acquisition program management oversight and disseminating acquisition policy and procedures, among other things.

³²In addition to these seven offices, the Department of Defense/VA Interagency Program Office also resides in OI&T. This office is supposed to function as the single point of accountability for ensuring that electronic health records systems or capabilities allow for full interoperability of health care-related information between DOD and VA.

In addition, the IT Budget and Finance office within IT Resource Management was tasked with planning, executing, and overseeing the department's technology budget, as well as ensuring that the appropriation funds are used appropriately. According to a director within the IT Budget and Finance office, this office was responsible for performing these functions for the fiscal year 2015 and 2016 IT budgets. The director also stated that the CIO, through this office, oversaw 100 percent of the IT appropriation. Further, in fiscal year 2016 the IT Budget and Finance office was charged with creating certification letters signed by the CIO and submitted to the Committees on Appropriations detailing the systems development, modernization, and enhancement projects VA had planned for the IT appropriation. To date, the CIO has certified projects for fiscal year 2016 in October 2015, February 2016, and April 2016.

• Office of Quality, Performance, and Oversight: This office was tasked with managing *quality assurance* activities. It was intended to act as an independent party to determine if OI&T's governance processes are adequate and functioning as anticipated. The office was also responsible for facilitating the reporting and understanding of performance measures and metrics related to IT program activities and strategic objectives. Further, it was charged with providing independent systems integration testing and other services to help ensure the integrity of the department's systems and compliance with applicable guidance, such that provided through PMAS.

In addition, the office was responsible for providing organizational development and training for IT, to include coverage of information security, privacy, and rules of behavior. It also was responsible for establishing IT human capital policies and conducting workforce planning.

- Office of Service Delivery and Engineering: All operations and maintenance activities associated with the department's IT environment, including those in medical centers and regional offices, were directed by the Office of Service Delivery and Engineering. This office also was tasked with overseeing and managing VA's data centers, network, and telecommunications; monitoring production for all information systems; delivering operations services (including deployment, maintenance, monitoring, and support) to all of the department's geographic locations; and engineering and designing all of the IT system platforms and infrastructure.
- Office of Information Security: The department's *information* security and privacy infrastructure was managed within this office. In this regard, the office was responsible for, among other things,

ensuring the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the department's information and information systems, as well as cybersecurity, risk management, records management, incident response, critical infrastructure protection, and business continuity. The office also was charged with developing, implementing, and overseeing the policies, procedures, training, communication, and operations related to improving how the department and its partners safeguard the personally identifiable information of veterans and VA employees.

 Office of Customer Advocacy: This office was in charge of service management. In this regard, it was responsible for working with VHA, VBA, NCA, and the department's staff offices to ensure that OI&T provides the services they need. The office also had responsibility for collecting and analyzing customer satisfaction metrics, and for responding to IT support requests at the department, business office, and employee levels.

Figure 1 depicts the seven organizational units within OI&T that had responsibility for performing and managing IT-related functions through March 2016.





Source: GAO analysis of VA data. | GAO-16-403

OI&T reported that its organizational units performed key IT-related functions with the support of nearly 7,300 federal employees and approximately 7,800 contractor staff. Nearly 600 of the federal employees were located in Washington, D.C., at the VA Headquarters, while the vast majority of the employees were assigned to other facilities, such as medical centers and regional offices.

Table 1 identifies each OI&T organizational unit and the number of employees and approximate number of contractors³³ that supported VA's IT program.

Table 1: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information & Technology (OI&T) Organizational Units and Number of Supporting Employees and Contractor Staff

OI&T organizational unit ^a	Number of employees	Number of contractor staff
Assistant Secretary (Chief Information Officer)/Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary	4	0
Architecture, Strategy & Design	102	236
Product Development	989	4014
IT Resource Management	76	31
Office of Quality Performance & Oversight	203	131
Service Delivery & Engineering	5377	3310
Information Security	521	110
Office of Customer Advocacy	21	19
Totals	7293	7851

Source: GAO analysis of Department of Veterans Affairs Data. | GAO-16-403

Note: The data for employees are as of January 2016 and the data for contractors are as of February 2016.

^aThe number of employees and contractors for the Interagency Program Office was not included because it does not perform the key functions described in this report.

In addition to these organizational resources, OI&T developed PMAS to serve as a mechanism for overseeing the performance of IT programs and ensuring accountability for results. PMAS was intended to provide information to facilitate oversight through a dashboard that captures

³³Contractor support services for OI&T vary widely and include project management, systems development, remediation of security vulnerabilities, maintenance of infrastructure, desktop support, and inventory control, among many others.

	project data, such as descriptions of the projects, baseline milestone dates, actual milestone dates, contract information, and project status information. The CIO's responsibilities with regard to PMAS include authorizing new projects and project increments in the system; approving the funding needed for the projects; monitoring a project's status via reporting, review, and assessment; and addressing any significant issues with the projects.
	Further, according to the CIO and OI&T documented procedures, TechStat reviews ³⁴ are required for every project that fails to deliver on its committed delivery date. TechStat reviews are the mechanism that the CIO, along with other senior leaders, used to determine whether a project should continue, be modified, or be terminated.
Governance Boards Are to Assist the CIO with IT- Related Functions	In VA's organization structure, the IT investment governance boards are intended to play a role in <i>strategic planning</i> and <i>IT investment</i> <i>management</i> , as they are responsible for providing the CIO with recommendations on the IT investments they feel would best meet the strategic and business objectives of the department. These two boards are intended to provide executive oversight for IT initiative planning and management.
	• IT Planning, Programming, Budgeting, and Execution Board: The board is tasked with recommending (1) the prioritization of all IT funding requests, including what should and should not be funded during the year; (2) execution of the IT appropriation; and (3) decisions as to whether to fund IT-related projects outside of the IT appropriation. The IT Chief Financial Officer, who also serves as the Deputy Assistant Secretary for the IT Resource Management office within OI&T, serves as the board's chairperson. The board includes voting members from VA's three administrations, as well as non-voting members from the OI&T organizational units, among others. In March 2016, the CIO stated in congressional testimony that the roles of this board will be assumed by a newly established Enterprise Program Management Office (EPMO).

³⁴A TechStat review is a forum at which senior leaders are presented the root cause for a project's missed committed increment deliverable date. TechStat reviews also include a discussion of risks, mitigation strategies, and impact on other dependent projects.

	• IT Leadership Board: This board is tasked with reviewing and validating portfolio recommendations from the Planning, Programming, Budgeting, and Execution Board, as well as making decisions on any issues that cannot be resolved by that board. According to the department's FITARA implementation plan, the IT Leadership Board has been tasked with approving the IT budget and then submitting it to the VA Executive Board—the department's highest-level decision-making board chaired by the Secretary—for approval. The CIO serves as the IT Leadership Board's chairperson and its members include the Under Secretaries for VA's three administrations and all VA staff offices.
VA Is Taking Action to Address Challenges to Effectively Managing IT	Although VA centralized its key functions in order to maintain better control over resources, OI&T has faced challenges to fully implementing and managing IT under a centralized organizational structure. In particular, independent assessments of the department's efforts in 2013 and 2015 showed that the office has had difficulty in preventing IT activities from occurring outside the control of OI&T. It has also been challenged in effectively collaborating with the department's various business units and in efficiently and cost-effectively delivering new IT capabilities.
	 IT activities have occurred outside the control of Ol&T. In September 2013, the VA Inspector General reported that the department's Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction had used \$13 million in supply funds, rather than approved IT funds, to develop a suite of electronic contracting applications to support the office's procurement process.³⁵ Further, the report noted that the Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction had not used the department's IT project management system, PMAS, to develop the contracting system, although doing so was mandated by the Secretary in June 2009 for all IT development projects department- wide. According to the report, the office followed its own project management process that was similar to PMAS. However, in doing

³⁵OIG, Department of Veterans Affairs: Review of Alleged System Duplication in the Virtual Office of Acquisition Software Development Project, 12-02708-301 (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 18, 2013).

so, the system development effort was not subjected to OI&T's risk management, monitoring, oversight and control, and reporting processes within PMAS. According to the report, officials in the Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction incorrectly believed that VA allowed for a PMAS exception because they had used supply funds, and not IT funds, for the development. The Inspector General recommended that the Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction implement controls to ensure the systems development project and all future IT development efforts fall within the control and oversight of the PMAS process. The office concurred with the recommendation.

More recently, in March 2015, the Inspector General reported that VHA had improperly obligated \$92.5 million and spent \$73.8 million in medical support and compliance funds, rather than IT funds, to develop its health care claims processing system through the VHA Financial Services Center.³⁶ According to the report, the former VHA Deputy Chief Business Officer stated that funds and development services provided through the Financial Services Center were used in hopes of achieving a faster delivery of the claims processing system. The Inspector General reported that, by doing so, VHA had avoided competing with other VA projects for IT systems appropriations. Thus, the Inspector General recommended that the Under Secretary for Health obtain the appropriate funding to support the development of the claims processing system. The interim Under Secretary for Health concurred with the recommendation and agreed to establish oversight mechanisms and issue guidance to ensure that VHA uses the appropriate funds.

• Collaboration between Ol&T and business units was not always effective. In September 2015, challenges with collaboration between Ol&T and VA business units were highlighted by an independent assessment of VA's health care delivery systems and management

³⁶OIG, *Department of Veterans Affairs: Review of Alleged Misuse of VA Funds To Develop the Health Care Claims Processing System*, 14-00730-126 (Washington, D.C.: Mar. 2, 2015).

processes, including health IT processes.³⁷ Several clinicians interviewed for that assessment stated that collaboration between systems developers and clinicians seemed to have disappeared after the centralization, resulting in uncoordinated execution of health IT strategies and limited development of new and improved capabilities for existing IT systems. The assessment noted that although the goals of OI&T and VHA did not conflict at the strategic level, the organizations often did not agree on priorities for executing the strategic plans. The assessment team recommended that VA and VHA transform IT strategy, planning, and execution by, among other things, establishing service-level agreements and refining the planning and budgeting process to ensure that business needs are effectively identified, prioritized, funded, and used to drive health IT investments. The team recommended that VA also develop a governance policy to ensure the strategic plans are executed well and in a timely manner.

Similarly, staff within the Office of Finance informed us of their dissatisfaction because OI&T controls the budget and the priorities for systems development efforts and IT change management. These staff stated that OI&T's priorities do not always align with the needs of the administrations or other staff offices, thus potentially delaying the delivery of needed services.

 PMAS limited VA's efforts to efficiently and cost-effectively deliver new IT capabilities. The September 2015 independent assessment also stated that overly demanding processes for system development, as defined by OI&T's PMAS, impeded cost-effective delivery of new health IT capabilities and limited VA's ability to measure the value of its investments. The assessment report further stated that the PMAS process was schedule driven and risk averse, leading many project managers to limit the amount of functionality in each release, thereby increasing the total time for any useful capability to be released. In addition, assessment interviewees

³⁷The MITRE Corporation, *Independent Assessment of the Health Care Delivery Systems and Management Processes of the Department of Veterans Affairs, Volume 1: Integrated Report* (Washington, D.C.: Sept. 1, 2015). This assessment was conducted in response to a requirement in the Veterans Access, Choice, and Accountability Act of 2014, Pub. L. No. 113-146, § 201, 128 Stat. 1754, 1769 (Aug. 7, 2014). For this assessment, MITRE interviewed 185 individuals that represented "planners" of IT visions and strategies; "builders" of information systems, technology, and architecture; and "users" of health IT systems.

indicated that documentation required by PMAS consumed a significant percentage of development time. Accordingly, the assessment team recommended that VA establish product-focused teams to ensure delivery of needed capabilities to users and that the department's system development process be modified from focusing on documentation and schedule to focusing more on functionality delivered.

Recognizing challenges in IT management, the CIO initiated an effort in January 2016 to transform the focus and functions of OI&T. In doing so, the CIO stressed the Secretary's goal of achieving a more veteran-focused organization that places greater emphasis on transparency, accountability, innovation, and teamwork. The CIO's transformation strategy calls for OI&T to focus on stabilizing and streamlining core processes and platforms, mitigating weaknesses highlighted in information security and GAO assessments, and improving outcomes by institutionalizing a new set of IT management capabilities.

According to the CIO, one of the most significant challenges the department faces is securing its assets, networks, systems, and data. To address this challenge, in September 2015, as part of the CIO's effort to transform OI&T, VA documented a long-term cybersecurity strategy. This strategy identified five goals for successfully building a comprehensive cybersecurity capability: (1) protecting veterans' information and VA data by ensuring privacy concerns are addressed and ensuring secure technology and data systems; (2) providing secure and resilient information systems technology, business applications, publicly accessible platforms, and shared data networks; (3) protecting VA infrastructure and assets, including the boundary environments that provide potential access and entry into VA; (4) enabling effective operations by improving governance and organizational alignment at enterprise, operational, and tactical levels (points of service interactions); and (5) recruiting and retaining a talented cybersecurity workforce covering multiple disciplines within cybersecurity.

As another part of this transformation, the CIO began transitioning the oversight and accountability of IT projects from PMAS to a new project management process called the Veteran-focused Integration Process (VIP) in January 2016, in an effort to better streamline systems development and speed up the delivery of new IT capabilities. According to the VIP guide, all systems development projects that touch the VA network or use money from the IT appropriation will be required to follow VIP. The CIO intends for VIP to facilitate an expanded use of the Agile

CIO Transformation Strategy Aims to Address Challenges

system development methodology³⁸ resulting in, for example, the delivery of system functionality on a more frequent, 3-month delivery cycle, whereas PMAS delivered functionality in 6-month cycles. In addition, VIP is intended to streamline IT project management by reducing the number of artifacts (i.e., documentation) that must be developed (from 58 to 8) and the number of critical decision points (from 5 to 2).³⁹ According to the CIO's transformation strategy, under the new VIP process, OI&T will also be required to consider security and architecture standards early in project planning phases, whereas PMAS required this later in the development process. According to the CIO, the department intends to have all IT projects managed under VIP by September 30, 2016.

In addition to implementing VIP, the CIO also intends to establish five new functions within OI&T as part of the transformation:

Enterprise Program Management Office. This office began initial operations in April 2016 and is intended to serve as OI&T's portfolio management and project tracking organization. According to the strategy, the goals of the new organization are to align IT portfolios with agency strategic objectives; enhance visibility and governance; analyze and report on portfolio performance metrics; ensure the overall health of the IT portfolio; and optimize resources for projects, people, and timelines. EPMO includes six functional areas: (1) Intake and Analysis of Alternatives, responsible for working with the VA administrations and other staff offices to develop requirements to meet the needs of veterans, provide analysis of alternative approaches to meeting those requirements, and integrate information security; (2) IT Portfolios, responsible for consolidating programs and projects under five IT portfolios (Health, Benefits, Cemeteries, Corporate, and Enterprise services); (3) Project Special Forces, responsible for mitigating issues that put projects at risk of failure;

³⁸Agile development is a modular and iterative approach that calls for producing usable software in small increments, sometimes referred to as sprints, rather than producing a complete product in longer sequential phases.

³⁹PMAS included five decision points for ensuring (1) the project is ready for the planning stage, (2) the project is ready to begin development, (3) a project is ready for deployment, (4) a project is ready to be closed because it has completed the delivery of business capabilities, and (5) a project has completed all closeout activities. By contrast, VIP includes two critical points—(1) determining whether the project will proceed into development and (2) determining whether the product is prepared for release.

(4) Lean Systems Engineering, responsible for metrics gathering and analysis, development of process tools, human resources, and training;
(5) Transition Release and Support, responsible for managing OI&T's integrated calendar supporting VIP; and
(6) Application Management, responsible for IT implementation efforts, including testing, design, and data management.

The EPMO is expected to replace the Product Development office and the Planning, Programming, Budgeting, and Execution board. As of July 2016, VA had not provided information about whether and how the transformation will affect the IT Leadership Board.

- Account Management. The account management function, led by three account managers, is to be responsible for managing the IT needs of OI&T's business partners—the VA's major components. Account managers are to interface directly with the VA administrations and staff offices to understand their needs, help identify and define the solutions to meet those needs, and represent their customers' interests by reporting directly to the CIO. In this regard, account managers are to submit their customers' IT requirements to the EPMO, ensure that their business needs are understood by OI&T, and ensure that business solutions are designed to meet their customers' specifications. This function is also tasked with advocating for their customers in the budget process. OI&T intends this new function to address the challenge of effectively collaborating with business units. As of May 2016, the three account managers were in place.
- **Quality and Compliance.** This function is to be responsible for establishing effective policy governance and standards and ensuring adherence to the policies and standards. In addition, the quality and compliance function is expected to be charged with identifying, monitoring, and measuring risks across the OI&T organization.
- Data Management Organization. The organization is being established to improve both service delivery and the veteran experience by engaging with data stewards to ensure the accuracy and security of the information collected by VA. The organization is intended to institute a data governance strategy; engage with business owners to ensure accuracy and security of collected data; analyze data sources to form an enterprise data architecture; and establish metrics for data efficiency, access, and value. OI&T also intends for the organization to identify trends in the data collected on each veteran that could improve their health care by providing predictive care and anticipating needs.

• Strategic Sourcing. This function is expected to be responsible for establishing an approach to fulfilling the agency's requirements with vendors that provide solutions to those requirements, managing vendor selection, tracking vendor performance and contract deliverables, and sharing insights on new technologies and capabilities to improve the workforce knowledge base.

Figure 2 depicts the OI&T organization as of April 2016, which includes previously existing components and functions, as well as the new functions described above. OI&T was still in the process of fully defining the roles and responsibilities of the organizational units as of July 2016.

Figure 2: Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Office of Information & Technology Organization as of April 2016



Source: GAO analysis of VA data. | GAO-16-403

In addition to these new functions, the strategy calls for a transformation of the services that OI&T provides in field offices, to include requiring service-level agreements for all VA organizations and using those agreements to define the support that is needed, migrating data and applications to the cloud, and developing a strategy for consolidating data centers. According to the CIO, the transformation strategy is expected to be completed by the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, although the vast majority of the plan, including establishing the five new functions, is to be executed by the end of fiscal year 2016.

VA Generally Implemented IT Human Capital Management Best Practices but Has Not Projected Leadership Retirements or Fully Identified Skill Gaps	Key to an agency's success in effectively managing its IT systems is sustaining a workforce with the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities to execute a range of management functions that support the agency's mission and goals. Achieving such a workforce depends on effective human capital management, which includes developing a human capital strategic plan; analyzing the workforce; analyzing the gaps between current skills and future needs, and developing strategies for filling the gaps; and training and developing the workforce. Taking such steps is consistent with activities outlined in human capital management practices that we and the Office of Personnel Management have developed. ⁴⁰ OI&T took steps toward implementing effective IT human capital practices by documenting an IT human capital strategic plan and initiating an update based on changed priorities, regularly analyzing workforce data, identifying skill gaps for the current fiscal year, and implementing an IT training program. However, OI&T did not implement other human capital practices that are essential for analyzing the workforce and identifying IT skill gaps. Specifically, the office had not (1) tracked and reviewed historical and projected leadership retirements, and (2) identified the gaps in future skill areas.
OI&T Developed a Human Capital Strategic Plan	Strategic human capital planning that is linked to an agency's strategic goals can be used as a tool to identify the workforce needed for the future and to develop strategies for shaping the workforce. Since 2001, we have identified strategic human capital management as a government-wide high-risk area. ⁴¹
	 ⁴⁰GAO-04-39; GAO, Human Capital: A Guide for Assessing Strategic Training and Development Efforts in the Federal Government, GAO-04-546G (Washington, D.C.: March 2004); and 5 C.F.R. § 250.203(a). ⁴¹GAO, High-Risk Series: An Update, GAO-01-263 (Washington, D.C.: Jan, 1, 2001), and

OPM regulations⁴² require agencies to develop a human capital strategic plan that identifies goals and objectives that are consistent with the agency's strategic plans and annual performance goals. These goals and objectives are to address each of the five systems for comprehensive human capital management that are outlined in OPM's *Human Capital Assessment and Accountability Framework (HCAAF)*.⁴³ In addition, OPM's regulations require agencies to include in their human capital strategic plans performance measures and milestones that assess the agency's progress in meeting the identified goals and objectives.⁴⁴

In October 2012, the VA Inspector General reported that OI&T had not developed a human capital strategic plan and recommended that the office do so.⁴⁵ In response to the recommendation, OI&T developed a 6-year human capital strategic plan in September 2013.⁴⁶ This plan outlined four human capital strategic goals:

- maximize employee talent through recruitment, outreach, hiring and retention;
- sustain a productive, diverse workforce and achieve results by valuing and recognizing performance in an environment in which all employees are encouraged to contribute;
- ensure OI&T supports a culture of leadership and continuous learning; and
- ensure the human capital strategic plan is aligned with other VA strategic plans and integrated into workforce planning.

⁴²5 C.F.R. § 250.203(a).

⁴³OPM's Human Capital Assessment and Accountability Framework details five human capital systems that, together, provide a consistent, comprehensive representation of human capital management for the federal government. The five human capital systems are (1) strategic alignment, (2) leadership and knowledge management, (3) results-oriented performance culture, (4) talent management, and (5) accountability.

⁴⁴⁵ C.F.R. § 250.203(a).

⁴⁵Office of the Inspector General, *Department of Veterans Affairs: Audit of Office of Information Technology's Strategic Human Capital Management*, 11-00324-20 (Washington, D.C.: Oct. 29, 2012).

⁴⁶Department of Veterans Affairs, *Office of Information & Technology Human Capital Strategic Plan 2014-2020* (September 30, 2013).

In addition to outlining the human capital strategic goals, this plan also identified objectives and strategies for achieving them. For example, the objectives included improving the processes for hiring new employees; building a diverse OI&T workforce; eliminating competency gaps in key leadership positions; and developing an office-wide integrated workforce analysis capability. Strategies that are linked to the goals and objectives include implementing a plan to streamline and improve employee orientation, increasing the percentage of minorities and veterans in the OI&T workforce, identifying and defining the competencies that OI&T leaders must develop to ensure staff in leadership positions have the right skills needed to meet organizational goals, and implementing a workforce planning process. See appendix III for a summary of the goals, objectives, and strategies outlined in OI&T's strategic human capital plan.

The human capital strategic plan also was aligned with specific strategies that were identified in VA's 6-year Strategic Plan, as well as the strategic goals within the department's Office of Human Resources and Administration Strategic Plan for fiscal year 2014-2020.⁴⁷ For example, the department's strategic plan includes strategies for the development of leadership, and OI&T's plan also includes the same. Specifically, as stated earlier, one of the goals within OI&T's plan is to ensure the office supports a culture of leadership and continuous learning. Strategies for this IT human capital strategic goal include identifying and defining the competencies that OI&T leaders must develop and retain.

The plan also was aligned with a Human Resources and Administration strategic goal—to advocate for veteran employment within the department. In addition, the plan identified strategies to recruit, hire, and promote qualified veterans.

Further, OI&T's human capital strategic goals are linked to each of the systems for comprehensive human capital management outlined in OPM's framework. For example, one of the goals is to maximize employee talent through recruitment, outreach, hiring, and retention, which links to the talent management system in the framework. In addition, the plan identifies performance measures that the office is to use

⁴⁷The Office of Human Resources and Administration leads the development and implementation of human capital management strategies, policies, and practices for VA.

	to monitor its progress in achieving each of the human capital goals. These performance measures include, among others, improved leadership abilities, and improvements in the number of hires and percentages for minorities, employees with disabilities, and veterans. As of March 2016, OI&T was in the process of updating the human capital strategic plan as part of the CIO's transformation strategy for OI&T. According to the office's human capital management director, the revised plan is expected to be in place by the end of December 2016. By developing a human capital strategic plan and ensuring that the plan is updated to reflect the changing mission requirements of the office, OI&T should be better positioned to provide the necessary strategic direction for meeting its workforce needs and goals.
Ol&T Regularly Analyzed Workforce Data but Was Not Tracking Leadership Retirements	Performing workforce analysis is a key component in strategic human capital planning because it assists agencies in developing strategies for acquiring, training, and retaining staff. According to OPM, workforce analysis allows agencies to identify trends impacting their workforce. The analysis also provides a basis for developing actions to address workforce trends that may impact an agency's future mission capabilities. OPM also stresses the importance of ensuring the continuity of leadership within an agency, and suggests that agencies perform ongoing workforce analysis to identify current and future workforce and leadership needs. Among other things, for relevant agency mission requirements, OPM requires a workforce analysis that includes a forecast of future leadership requirements and changes due to retirements. ⁴⁸ Similarly, VA's workforce planning policy requires each staff office, including OI&T, to annually analyze historical workforce data and develop workforce projections that, at a minimum, include employee counts, retirements and other losses, new hires, workforce diversity, and leadership retirements. ⁴⁹ The workforce analysis also is to include a determination of gaps in the workforce and strategies to close those gaps.

⁴⁸5 C.F.R. § 250.203(a).

⁴⁹VA Directive 5002, *Workforce and Succession Planning* (January 15, 2003).

retirements through fiscal year 2018, employee turnover and hiring rates, and workforce diversity percentages. Further, OI&T has analyzed most of the required workforce information on a monthly basis. Specifically, the analyses we reviewed for October 2015 to January 2016 included workforce data and projections related to employee counts, losses, new hires, and workforce diversity. According to the OI&T Director of Human Capital Management, the office used these data to examine trends, increase awareness of staffing related issues or opportunities, and identify workforce gaps, among other things.

Further, the department's Integrated Human Resources Management Council⁵⁰ was tasked with analyzing workforce data, such as retirement rates, on a quarterly basis as part of an overall VA effort to review performance metrics related to human resource strategic goals. The Integrated Human Resources Management Council's review results included workforce gaps and strategies to close them. For example, in fiscal year 2015 VA had not met its target for hiring veterans. One of the strategies the council identified for increasing the number of veterans hired was to collaborate with stakeholders to identify and implement innovative and targeted recruitment opportunities.

Nevertheless, even as it has taken these actions, OI&T was not analyzing historical leadership retirement data; nor was it developing leadership retirement projections as required by the department's workforce and succession policy.⁵¹ Leadership positions include senior executives as well as other staff at the General Schedule levels 13 through 15. According to the OI&T Director of Human Capital Management, the office collects data on all employee losses, including retirements. Further the OI&T human capital strategic plan included projected eligible retirements. However, historic data on leadership retirements were not analyzed and a

⁵¹VA Directive 5002, *Workforce and Succession Planning* (January 15, 2003).

⁵⁰The Integrated Human Resources Management Council is an advisory council that is to assist the Deputy Assistant Secretary of Human Resource Management in implementing reviews, called HRstat, and provide the Human Resources and Administration Chief Human Capital Officer and organizational leaders with advice on strategic policy for human resources programs and initiatives. The council consists of a chairperson and appointed senior human resources representatives from the administrations and staff offices, which includes OI&T. HRstat reviews are expected to use metrics chosen by the agency to drive performance and enhance mission accomplishment.

fore by V The the o spec lead and turn	forecast of future leadership retirements was not developed, as called for by VA's workforce planning policy.
	The OI&T Director of Human Capital Management stated that, although the office has the capability to analyze leadership retirements, there is no specific reason why it has not done so. Without tracking and forecasting leadership retirements, OI&T faces a risk of being unprepared to identify and effectively respond to vacancies in key leadership positions, which in turn can contribute to ineffective IT management.
OI&T Identified Skill Gaps but Has Not Determined Its Needs beyond the Current Year	Determining core skills (e.g., problem solving), ⁵² leadership skills (e.g., developing others), and technical skills (e.g., configuration management) is essential for an organization such as OI&T to successfully achieve its missions and goals. This is especially important as changes in national security, technology, budget constraints, and other factors change the environment within which organizations operate. The identified skills should be linked to the agency's mission and long-term goals in order to identify the workforce needed for the future and develop strategies for shaping this workforce. Agencies should then identify the gaps in current and future skills needed to achieve results, and develop strategies for filling the gaps. ⁵³
	OI&T had conducted annual gap analyses to identify its skill needs, and it had developed strategies for filling the gaps. Specifically, the IT Workforce Development group within the Office of Quality, Performance, and Oversight began conducting the analyses in June 2013, and the analyses were conducted annually thereafter. On an annual basis, the analyses identified each skill area where a gap existed, along with the percentage of staff that was determined to be below the targeted proficiency level for a particular role and career level (e.g., entry, intermediate, and senior). In addition, the analyses identified the top 10 technical skill gaps within OI&T for each year and compared the gaps from the previous year to those in the current year. This comparison showed either an increase,

⁵²Core skills are applicable to all employees department-wide.

⁵³GAO-04-39.
decrease, or no change in the percentage of staff below the targeted proficiency level for a particular skill area. For example, in March 2016, IT Workforce Development reported that the gap in staff proficiency in 9 of the top 10 technical skill areas within OI&T had decreased from the previous year and that the gap in staff proficiency in 1 skill area had remained the same. Table 2 shows the comparison of the skills gaps for the 2015 and 2016 analyses.

Table 2: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information & Technology's Top 10 Technical Skill Gaps Identified in 2015 and 2016 Analyses

Skill area	Percentage of staff below proficiency in 2015	Percentage of staff below proficiency in 2016
Emerging technologies	12%	10%
Project management	8%	7%
Technology application	7%	6%
IT architecture	8%	6%
Configuration management	6%	6%
Information systems / network security	7%	6%
Information management	6%	5%
Infrastructure design	9%	8%
Requirements analysis	13%	10%
508 accessibility ^a	16%	15%

Source: March 2016 OI&T Skills Gap Analysis Report. | GAO-16-403

^aSection 508 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 requires federal agencies and departments to take specified actions to ensure accessibility and called for the promulgation of standards related to technology accessibility for people with disabilities.

After the initial analysis was conducted in June 2013, the office identified training that was either available or being developed to address each skill gap. For example, in its March 2016 analysis report, the IT Workforce Development group noted that 48 new courses were being developed based on gaps identified in the March 2015 analysis. This training covered the areas of emerging technologies, project management, communications, interpersonal skills, analytical reasoning, and conflict management. As of July 2015, OI&T had provided approximately 470 on-the-job training opportunities. According to the IT Workforce Development group, on-the-job training is used to increase options for staff to demonstrate advanced-level proficiency, including in many of the skill gap areas identified. For example, the group developed an opportunity for senior staff to guide junior staff in the area of project management. The group also provided staff the opportunity to learn from subject matter

experts in the area of infrastructure design. As of April 2016, employees had taken advantage of approximately 160 of these opportunities.

The IT Workforce Development group also recommended in its 2016 gap analysis that several other actions be taken by OI&T to address the identified skill gaps. For example, the group recommended that OI&T continue to develop learning plans that focus on advance levels of proficiency; develop training on VIP, including training on Agile program management; and prioritize training for leadership-related competencies, among others.

Nevertheless, while OI&T conducted annual skill gap analyses and developed training courses and recommended other actions for addressing skill gaps, the office has not identified the gaps in skill areas that could be needed in future years. Specifically, the analyses focused on gaps in the time periods when they were conducted; however, the analyses did not identify the skills or the gaps in the skills that may have been needed in future years in order to implement the goals and objectives identified in the department's long-term IT strategic plan or for planned IT initiatives.

According to a program manager in the IT Workforce Development group, the annual skill gap analyses were based on current staffing levels and on what each organization within OI&T wanted to achieve through the current fiscal year, but not on what skills would be needed for future years. However, by only focusing on the current year and not including future years in its skill gaps analysis, OI&T may not have been aware of gaps in skills that would be needed to successfully accomplish other goals, such as the completion of a multi-year IT development project, or longer-term goals, such as the department's future IT operating environment as described in the office's 5-year IT strategic plan. By including the IT skills needed for future-years in its gap analyses, OI&T could have increased assurance that its staff has the capabilities to deliver long-term IT support that contributes to improved services for veterans.

OI&T Took Steps to Implement a Training Program Training programs are an integral part of a learning environment that can enhance an agency's ability to attract and retain employees with the core, leadership, and technical skills needed to achieve results. The essential aim of these programs is to assist the agency in achieving its mission and goals by improving individual and, ultimately, organizational performance. Training programs involve establishing learning priorities; identifying training initiatives; ensuring delivery of learning opportunities; and evaluating the program and demonstrating how training efforts contribute to improved performance and results.⁵⁴

Ol&T took several steps to implement a training program. These included establishing an advisory board, developing competency models and individual development plans, and providing training to its employees. Specifically, the office established a Training Advisory Board which was tasked with identifying and validating training needs in Ol&T. The board, which was established in November 2014, is headed by the Ol&T Chief Learning Officer and has senior management representatives from each organizational unit. According to its charter, the advisory board discusses and determines the priority of the training needs of each of the organizational units. In addition, the charter states that the board is intended to ensure that available training is aligned with VA's mission, strategic planning, and Ol&T priorities. The board's most recent meetings were held in October 2015 and April 2016. During the meetings, the board discussed the training needs for Ol&T's organizations, the development of training courses, and upcoming learning opportunities.

The IT Workforce Development group used competency models and individual development plans to identify training initiatives that could address the learning needs of OI&T's employees. According to an official in the IT Workforce Development group, employees were aligned with competency models based on their job responsibilities. These competency models identified training needs for professional development. Additionally, the IT Workforce Development official stated that OI&T used individual development plans to reinforce the required knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary for employees to progress into new positions at higher skill levels. The individual development plan is essentially a to-do list that is generated based on identified gaps in the employee's skills. The plan identifies the employee's competency model, training needs, and the due dates for the learning opportunities identified to meet their training needs.

Further, OI&T has taken steps to ensure the delivery of learning opportunities. Specifically, in fiscal year 2015, the office provided over

⁵⁴GAO-04-546G.

700 training courses. For example, it provided training on information security awareness, which over 15,000 employees and contractors completed, and on risk assessment, which was completed by 284 employees and contractors. The courses also covered a wide range of other IT-related subjects, such as project management, enterprise architecture, and cybersecurity. The training courses were delivered through several methods, such as webinars, on-the-job training, classrooms, and virtual classrooms. The IT Workforce Development group used event announcements and the delivery of course schedules to each organizational unit to help ensure employees were made aware of the provided opportunities.

Lastly, OI&T took steps to evaluate its training program. Specifically, in April 2015, the office performed an assessment that identified weaknesses in its training program, such as the need to supplement competency modeling efforts with learning opportunities that focus on IT strategic business priorities for overall organizational development. The assessment also identified the need to provide learning opportunities that address emerging trends and technologies at all leadership levels.

Further, the assessment included strategies to improve employee, leadership, and organizational development. For example, one strategy to improve employee development was to survey employees to identify challenges in job responsibilities and the least understood emerging technologies, and then to use that information to provide theme-based development opportunities to address the identified needs. Additionally, OI&T gauged the satisfaction of the training attendees by providing course evaluations, which assessed the relevance of the training to job responsibilities and the effectiveness of the instructor. For example, in February 2016, 90 percent of course attendees indicated that they were satisfied with the courses; 83 percent indicated that the content of the courses were relevant to their jobs; and 95 percent indicated that the instructor was effective in conveying practical knowledge about the subject matter.

By taking these steps to implement a training program, OI&T is better positioned to ensure that it has the ability to train and develop an IT workforce to effectively support the department's mission and goals.

VA Documented Processes to Manage IT System Development and Acquisitions, but Gaps Existed	Instituting disciplined, repeatable practices for IT development and acquisition is key to ensuring that investments in IT cost-effectively deliver the capabilities needed to support an organization's mission. SEI and GAO have identified best practices that are essential to the development and acquisition of products and services for IT projects. These include practices related to project planning, requirements management, risk management, project monitoring and control, product validation, and process and product quality assurance, ⁵⁵ as well as developing and maintaining a reliable, high-quality project schedule. ⁵⁶ According to SEI, when an organization's processes are documented, it allows the organization to more consistently apply these best practices. ⁵⁷ Further, documented processes are important for sustaining institutionalized best practices regardless of future leadership changes. ⁵⁸ Of 123 best practices that we selected to evaluate, VA's documented processes reflected 97 practices, partially reflected 12 practices, and did not reflect 14 practices.
Most Project Planning Best Practices Were Addressed in OI&T's Documented Processes	Project planning involves establishing and maintaining estimates of project parameters, developing a project plan, and obtaining commitment to the plan from those who are responsible for implementing and supporting it. ⁵⁹ For example, establishing project estimates involves developing a work breakdown structure that details project tasks, responsibilities, and schedules; specifying estimates of work products and task attributes for the project; and estimating the project's effort and costs for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale.
	and creating and maintaining a project plan that ties together the budget, schedule, milestones, and stakeholder identification and interaction.
	⁵⁵ SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.
	⁵⁶ GAO-16-89G.
	⁵⁷ SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.
	⁵⁸ GAO, Veterans Affairs: Continued Focus on Critical Success Factors Is Essential to Achieving Information Technology Realignment, GAO-07-844 (Washington, D.C.: June 15, 2007).
	50

⁵⁹SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

Further, obtaining commitment to the plan includes identifying agreements regarding interfaces between project elements and other projects; documenting commitments with an appropriate level of signatories; and making adjustments to the project plan to reconcile variances in estimated and available resources.

Ol&T's project planning processes reflected 13 of 15 selected best practices. Of the 15 practices, the processes we examined included criteria that addressed 4 of 5 practices for establishing project estimates. These included developing a work breakdown structure that specifies project tasks, responsibilities, and schedules; identifying products to be acquired externally; providing estimates of work products and task attributes; and planning project lifecycle phases.

One practice—to estimate the project's effort and costs for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale—was partially reflected in the documented processes. In this regard, VA's project scheduling tool contained processes that called for project managers to estimate project effort. However, the processes did not address how the managers were to calculate the estimated effort to be expended to complete a project.

Further, the processes included criteria related to all 7 selected practices for developing a project plan. These included identifying major milestones, defining and quantifying resources needed for the project, and creating and maintaining a project plan that ties together the budget, schedule, milestones, and stakeholder identification and interaction.

Finally, the processes reflected 2 of 3 selected practices for obtaining commitment to the plan. In particular, they included identifying commitments regarding interfaces between project elements and other projects, and for documenting commitments with an appropriate level of signatories. However, the processes did not address making adjustments to the project plan to reconcile variances in estimated and available resources.

Until OI&T incorporates all the recommended project planning best practices in its process documentation, the office increases the risk that its project managers could inconsistently calculate estimates of the effort needed across projects and fail to adjust project plans based on resource availability, thus potentially affecting the timely completion of projects. Table 3 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were documented in OI&T's project planning processes.

Table 3: Project Planning Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes

Criteria	GAO assessment
Establish estimates	
Develop a work breakdown structure so detailed project tasks, responsibilities, and schedule can be specified	•
Identify products that will be acquired externally	•
Provide estimates of work products and task attributes for the project	•
Plan the lifecycle phases of the project - planning, development, operations, and close-out	•
Estimate the project's effort and costs for work products and tasks based on estimation rationale	Ð
Develop a project plan	
Identify major milestones	•
Identify schedule assumptions, constraints, and task dependencies	•
Establish and maintain the budget and schedule	•
Establish a mechanism to archive data and access archived data	•
Define project resources (e.g., labor and equipment) and quantities needed for the project	•
Develop a stakeholder involvement plan, including a list of relevant stakeholders and roles and responsibilities of the stakeholders	•
Create and maintain a project plan that ties together the budget, schedule, milestones, and stakeholder identification and interaction	•
Obtain commitment to the plan	
Identify commitments regarding interfaces between project elements and other projects so the commitments can be monitored	•
Document commitments with an appropriate level of signatories	•
Make adjustments to the project plan to reconcile differences between estimated resources and available resources	0

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

 \circ = The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied some but not all elements of the best practice.

Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

OI&T's Documented Processes Addressed Almost All Requirements Management Best Practices

Best practices recommend that project teams manage requirements of the project's products and components, and ensure alignment between those requirements and the project plans and work products. Managing requirements can be accomplished by understanding and obtaining commitment to requirements, and ensuring that project work and associated requirements align with each other.⁶⁰ Examples of these best practices include analyzing requirements to ensure that established criteria for managing requirements are met; documenting all requirements and requirements changes; maintaining bidirectional requirements traceability from a requirement to its derived (i.e., lower-level) requirements and allocation to work products and back; and identifying changes to be made to plans and work products based on modifications to the requirements baseline.

OI&T had documented processes that reflected 10 of 11 selected best practices for managing project requirements. For example, the processes included assessing the impact of requirements on existing commitments, negotiating and documenting changes to commitments, and maintaining a requirements change history with the rationale for the changes. However, the documentation did not address one of the practices. Specifically, it did not include identifying changes that should be made to plans and work products resulting from changes to the requirements baseline.

Until the office incorporates in its documented processes the best practice for identifying changes to be made based on modifications to a project's requirements baseline, OI&T's staff will not be best positioned to implement the associated changes and maintain consistent processes across IT projects. Table 4 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were reflected in OI&T's requirements management processes.

Table 4: Requirements Management Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes

Criteria	GAO assessment
Manage requirements	
Establish criteria for the evaluation and acceptance of requirements	•
Analyze requirements to ensure that established criteria are met	•

⁶⁰SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

Criteria	GAO assessment
Reach an understanding of requirements with requirements providers so that project participants can commit to them	•
Assess the impact of requirements on existing commitments	•
Negotiate and document changes to commitments	•
Document all requirements and requirements changes	•
Maintain a requirements change history, including the rationale for changes	•
Evaluate the impact of requirement changes from the standpoint of relevant stakeholders	•
Maintain bidirectional requirements traceability from a requirement to its derived requirements and allocation to work products (and back)	•
Review project plans, activities, and work products for consistency with requirements and changes made to them	•
Identify any changes that should be made to plans and work products resulting from changes to the requirements baseline	0

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

 \circ = The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

Majority of Risk Management Best Practices Were Documented in OI&T's Processes Risk management best practices call for the identification of potential problems before they occur so that risk-handling activities can be planned throughout the life of the project to mitigate adverse impacts on achieving objectives. These practices involve preparing for risk management, identifying and analyzing risks, and mitigating identified risks.⁶¹ For example, preparing for risk management involves determining risk sources and categories, and developing risk mitigation techniques. In addition, identifying and analyzing risks includes determining those that are associated with cost, schedule, and performance; and reviewing the work breakdown structure⁶² and project plan to help ensure that all aspects of the work effort have been considered. Further, mitigating risks

⁶¹SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

⁶²A work breakdown structure defines in detail the work necessary to accomplish a program's objectives. A work breakdown structure also reflects the requirements to be accomplished to develop a program, and it provides a basis for identifying resources and activities necessary to produce deliverables. Further, a well-structured work breakdown structure helps promote accountability by identifying work products that are independent of one another. It also provides the framework for developing a schedule plan that can easily track technical accomplishments, allowing quick identification of cost and schedule variances.

includes determining the levels and thresholds in which a risk becomes unacceptable and triggers the execution of a risk mitigation plan or contingency plan; establishing a schedule for each risk handling activity, with a start date and anticipated completion date; determining the costs and benefits of implementing the risk mitigation plan for each risk; and collecting performance measures on risk handling activities.

OI&T established processes that reflected 26 of 28 selected best practices for risk management. Of the 28 best practices, the office's processes addressed all 9 practices related to preparing for risk management. For example, they defined criteria for evaluating and quantifying risk likelihood and severity, established thresholds for risk categories, and defined a time period for risk monitoring or reassessment.

In addition, the documented processes included criteria related to all 9 practices for identifying and analyzing risks. For example, the processes reflected best practices for documenting the context, conditions, and potential consequences of each risk; categorizing and grouping risks according to defined risk categories; and prioritizing risks for mitigation.

With regard to mitigating risks, the documentation reflected 8 of 10 selected best practices. For example, it included identifying the person or group responsible for addressing risks, developing contingency plans for critical risks, and monitoring risk status. However, it did not address one practice for determining the costs and benefits of implementing the risk mitigation plan for each risk. Further, one practice—to collect performance measures on risk handling activities—was partially reflected in the processes. In this regard, VA's processes called for the creation and distribution of monthly performance reports, but they did not address risk mitigation activities.

Although VA included 26 of 28 best practices related to risk management in its processes, it is not positioned to fully ensure that the costs and benefits of executing risk mitigation plans will be consistently determined and that performance measures for risk mitigation efforts are collected. Table 5 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were documented in OI&T's risk management processes.

Table 5: Risk Management Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes

Criteria	GAO assessment
Prepare for risk management	
Determine risk sources (i.e., risk source lists could include uncertain requirements, unavailable technology, cost or funding issues)	•
Determine risk categories (i.e., risk category lists could include lifecycle phase, budget risks, schedule risks, resource risks)	•
Define criteria for evaluating and quantifying risk likelihood and severity levels	٠
Define thresholds for each risk category (whether risk is acceptable or unacceptable, triggers for involving management)	•
Scope of the risk management effort	٠
Methods and tools to be used for risk identification, risk analysis, risk mitigation, risk monitoring, and communication	٠
Parameters used for taking action on identified risks, including likelihood, consequence, and thresholds	٠
Develop risk mitigation techniques	٠
Define time period for monitoring or reassessing risks	٠
Identify and analyze risks	
Identify the risks associated with cost, schedule, and performance	٠
Review environmental elements that can affect the project	٠
Review work breakdown structure as part of identifying risks to help ensure that all aspects of the work effort have been considered	•
Review project plan as part of identifying risks to help ensure that all aspects of the project have been considered	٠
Document the context, conditions, and potential consequences of each risk (i.e., time frame of the risk, circumstances related to the risk)	•
Identify the relevant stakeholders associated with each risk	٠
Evaluate identified risks using defined risk parameters (i.e., likelihood, severity, impact, thresholds)	٠
Categorize and group risks according to defined risk categories	٠
Prioritize risks for mitigation	٠
Mitigate risks	
Determine the levels and thresholds that define when a risk becomes unacceptable and triggers the execution of a risk mitigation plan or contingency plan	•
Identify the person or group responsible for addressing each risk	•
Develop an overall risk mitigation plan for the project to orchestrate the implementation of individual risk mitigation and contingency plans	•
Develop contingency plans for critical risks in the event that the risks occur	•
Monitor risk status	٠
Provide a method for tracking open risk handling action items to closure	•
Risk handling options when monitored risks are categorized as high and medium	•
Establish a schedule or period of performance for each risk handling activity that includes a start date and anticipated completion date	٠

Criteria	GAO assessment
Determine the costs and benefits of implementing the risk mitigation plan for each risk	0
Collect performance measures on risk handling activities	Ð

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

= The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied some but not all elements of the best practice.

Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

OI&T's Documented Processes Addressed Some but Not All Project Monitoring and Control Best Practices

The purpose of project monitoring and control is to provide an understanding of the project's progress so that appropriate corrective actions can be taken when the project's performance deviates significantly from the plan. Toward this end, a project's documented plan is considered the basis for monitoring activities and corrective actions taken when performance deviates significantly from the plan.⁶³ Examples of monitoring the project against the project plan include tracking progress against the schedule, monitoring project costs and the effort expended for project completion, documenting the results of data management activity reviews, and identifying and documenting significant issues and deviations from the project plan. In addition, managing corrective actions to address identified issues involves determining and documenting the appropriate actions needed to address the issues and monitoring corrective actions for completion.

Ol&T's documented processes reflected 18 of 28 selected best practices related to project monitoring and control. Of the 28 practices, the processes reflected 12 of 22 selected practices for monitoring the project against the project plan and all 6 selected practices related to managing correction actions. For monitoring the project against the project plan, the processes included tracking change requests and problem reports to closure, documenting the results of milestone reviews, and reviewing the project plan, project status, and risks at selected milestones. In addition, for managing corrective actions, the processes included gathering issues that require corrective action for analysis, analyzing the results of corrective actions to determine effectiveness, and determining and

⁶³SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

documenting lessons learned as a result of taking appropriate corrective actions.

However, three of the selected practices were partially reflected in the processes for monitoring the project against the project plan. Specifically, documentation on monitoring project costs and the effort expended for project completion included criteria for monitoring project costs; however, it did not call for tracking expended effort. With regard to monitoring resources provided and used, the processes call for VA to monitor projects to ensure that staff and resources are provided, but they did not clearly require monitoring for the utilization of those staff and resources.

Similarly, OI&T partially documented its processes for reviewing the results of collecting and analyzing project performance measures, such as customer service satisfaction metrics. In particular, the processes had been developed to ensure the agreed-upon functionality was delivered to customers. However, the customers' level of satisfaction based on the functionality requested and received for the project was not addressed.

In addition, the processes did not address seven of the selected practices. These practices were associated with monitoring the knowledge and skills of project staff, periodically reviewing data management activities against the project plan, identifying and documenting significant data management issues and their impacts, documenting results of data management activity reviews, periodically reviewing stakeholder involvement in projects, documenting the results of stakeholder involvement status reviews, and tracking action items to closure.

Until OI&T completely documents its processes for monitoring and controlling projects, staff responsible for executing these steps may not be fully aware of a project's progress toward achieving the milestones defined in the project plan. Table 6 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were addressed in OI&T's project monitoring and control processes.

 Table 6: Project Monitoring and Control Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented

 Processes

Criteria	GAO assessment
Monitor the project against the project plan	
Monitor progress against the schedule	•

Criteria	GAO assessment
Monitor the project's costs and expended effort	0
Monitor resources provided and used	0
Monitor the knowledge and skills of project staff	0
Document significant deviations in project planning parameters	٠
Periodically review data management activities against their description in the project plan	0
Identify and document significant data management issues and their impacts	0
Document results of data management activity reviews	0
Periodically review the status of stakeholder involvement to ensure that stakeholders are involved regularly	0
Identify and document significant issues and their impacts (e.g., essential stakeholders that do not have access to the project data needed to fulfill their roles)	•
Document the results of stakeholder involvement status reviews	0
Regularly communicate status on assigned activities and work products to relevant stakeholders	٠
Review the results of collecting and analyzing measures of the project performance (e.g., customer service satisfaction survey)	O
Identify and document significant issues and deviations from the project plan	٠
Document change requests and problems identified in work products and processes	٠
Track change requests and problem reports to closure	٠
Document the results of milestone reviews	٠
Conduct milestone reviews with relevant stakeholders at meaningful points in the project's schedule, such as the completion of selected phases	•
Review the project plan, project status, and risks of the project at selected milestones	٠
Identify and document significant issues and their impacts after milestone reviews	٠
Document results of the milestone review, action items, and decisions	٠
Track milestone review action items to closure	0
Manage corrective actions	
Gather issues that require corrective action for analysis (i.e., data access, collection, privacy, or security issues, or issues that were discovered during technical reviews, verification, and validation, etc.)	•
Determine and document the appropriate actions needed to address identified issues	٠
Review and reach consensus with relevant stakeholders on the actions to be taken	٠
Monitor corrective actions for completion	•
Analyze results of corrective actions to determine effectiveness	٠
Determine and document lessons learned as a result of taking corrective actions	٠

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

 \circ = The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

 \bullet = The program office documented processes that satisfied some but not all elements of the best practice.

Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

Validation Best Practices Were Reflected in OI&T's Documented Processes

Best practices for product validation call for project teams to demonstrate that a product or component fulfills its intended use when placed in its intended environment. The methods employed to accomplish validation can be applied to work products as well as to the product components. Key practices, as identified by SEI, include preparing for validation by identifying and selecting products, and validating the product or product components.⁶⁴ For example, preparing for validation includes identifying the product, product component, and/or features to be validated throughout the life of the project and identifying requirements for the validation environment and passing them to the requirements development process. Further, validating the product or its components involves ensuring that activities (i.e., those that validate IT hardware and services) are performed throughout the project lifecycle and that deviations from validation procedures are documented.

Of the 17 selected best practices for product validation, OI&T's documented processes reflected all 10 practices related to preparing for validation, and all 7 practices for carrying out the validation of the product or its components. For example, the office's processes addressed best practices for identifying test equipment and tools, ensuring the validation method was selected early in the development process, identifying and documenting validation failure causes as needed, comparing actual validation test results to expected results, and analyzing validation data for defects.

By incorporating the selected validation best practices into its processes, OI&T has increased assurance that staff responsible for performing validation of the department's IT products or their components will be positioned to consistently apply key processes to ensure that products perform as expected when placed in the intended environment. Table 7 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were addressed in OI&T's validation processes.

⁶⁴SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

Table 7: Validation Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes

	GAO
Criteria	assessment
Prepare for validation	
Identify the product, product component, and/or features to be validated throughout the life of the project	٠
Obtain requirements and constraints for performing validation	•
Select the evaluation methods for product or product component validation	•
Review the validation selection, constraints, and methods with relevant stakeholders and obtain agreement	•
Identify requirements for the validation environment and pass them to the requirements development process	•
Identify test equipment and tools	•
The method for validation was selected early on in the development process	•
Review the product requirements to ensure that issues affecting validation of the product or product component are identified and resolved	•
Document the environment, operational scenario, procedures, inputs, outputs, and criteria for the validation of the selected product or product component	•
Assess the design as it matures in the context of the validation environment to identify validation issues (i.e. ensure any changes in the design of the system does not affect the validation process)	•
Validate product or product components	
Validation activities are performed throughout the project lifecycle	•
Deviations from documented validation procedures are documented	•
Validation results and traceability matrix/requirements matrix is documented	•
Compare actual results to expected results	•
Identify and document causes for validation failure, if necessary	•
Analyze validation data for defects	•
Provide information on how defects can be resolved (including validation methods, criteria, and validation environment) and initiate corrective action	•

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

Process and Product Quality Assurance Best Practices Were Mostly Reflected in OI&T's Documentation

Best practices for process and product quality assurance are intended to support the delivery of high-quality products by providing project staff and management with appropriate visibility and feedback on processes and associated work products throughout the life of the project. Toward this end, process and product quality assurance involves objectively evaluating processes and work products, and providing objective insight to staff and managers.⁶⁵ Examples of objectively evaluating processes and work products include establishing and maintaining clearly stated criteria, based on business needs, for assessing processes and work products; identifying lessons learned that could improve processes; and documenting a description of the quality assurance reporting chain and defining how it will ensure objectivity. In addition, examples of providing objective insight include escalating noncompliance issues that cannot be resolved in the project to the appropriate level of management; tracking noncompliance issues to resolution; recording process and product guality assurance activities in sufficient detail so that the status and results are known; and periodically reviewing open noncompliance issues and trends with management designated to receive and act on them.

Ol&T had documented processes that addressed 12 of 14 selected best practices related to process and product quality assurance. Specifically, the processes reflected 4 of 5 practices for objectively evaluating processes and work products. These included practices related to establishing and maintaining clearly stated criteria, based on business needs, for evaluating processes and work products; identifying each noncompliance found during the evaluation; identifying lessons learned; and evaluating selected work products at selected times.

One practice—to document a description of the quality assurance reporting chain and define how it will ensure objectivity— was partially addressed in the processes. In this regard, while a quality assurance standard described how each review would ensure objectivity, the description of the reporting chain was not included.

In addition, the office's processes reflected 8 of 9 selected practices for providing objective insight. These included documenting noncompliance issues that cannot be resolved in the project, analyzing noncompliance

⁶⁵SEI, CMMI® for Development and Acquisition, Versions 1.3.

issues to determine if quality trends can be identified and addressed; and ensuring that relevant stakeholders are aware of results of evaluations and quality trends in a timely manner. However, they did not address the periodic review of open noncompliance issues and trends with appropriate management.

By not fully documenting best practices related to quality assurance in its processes, OI&T has less assurance that staff will appropriately report quality assurance issues and periodically review open issues and trends so that the relevant manager can act on them. Table 8 summarizes the extent to which these best practices were reflected in OI&T's process and product quality assurance processes.

Table 8: Process and Product Quality Assurance Criteria Incorporated in the Office of Information & Technology's Documented Processes

Criteria	GAO assessment
Objectively evaluate processes and work products	
Establish and maintain clearly stated criteria, based on business needs, for evaluations of processes and work products (i.e., What will be evaluated? When or how often will a process be evaluated? How will the evaluation be conducted? Who will be involved in the evaluation?)	•
Identify each noncompliance found during the evaluation	•
Identify lessons learned that could improve processes	•
Evaluate selected work products at selected times (i.e. before delivery, during delivery, incrementally, during unit testing, etc.)	•
Document a description of the quality assurance reporting chain and define how it will ensure objectivity	Ð
Provide objective insight	
Resolve each noncompliance with the appropriate members of the staff, if possible	•
Document noncompliance issues when they cannot be resolved in the project	•
Escalate noncompliance issues that cannot be resolved in the project to the appropriate level of management designated to receive and act on noncompliance issues	•
Analyze noncompliance issues to see if there are quality trends that can be identified and addressed	•
Ensure that relevant stakeholders are aware of results of evaluations and quality trends in a timely manner	•
Track noncompliance issues to resolution	•
Record process and product quality assurance activities in sufficient detail so that the status and results are known	•
Revise the status and history of quality assurance activities as necessary	•
Periodically review open noncompliance issues and trends with the manager designated to receive and act on noncompliance issues	0

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

• = The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied some but not all elements of the best practice. Source: SEI (criteria) and GAO (analysis of agency-provided data). | GAO-16-403

Most Project Schedule Best Practices Were Partially Addressed or Not Addressed in OI&T's Process Documentation

The success of a project depends, in part, on having an integrated and reliable master schedule that defines when and how long work will occur, and how each activity is related to the others. A project's schedule provides not only a road map for systematic project execution, but also the means by which to gauge progress, identify and resolve potential problems, and promote accountability at all levels of the program.⁶⁶ VA's guide for IT project management deems project schedules as essential to a project's success and notes that failure to meet project schedule dates may trigger additional project reviews by senior leaders, which could lead to a project's shutdown.

Further, our Schedule Assessment Guide defines 10 best practices related to 4 characteristics that are important to developing high-quality, reliable schedule estimates—comprehensive, controlled, well-constructed, and credible.⁶⁷ Table 9 describes the characteristics of high-quality, reliable schedule estimates and their associated best practices that guided our analysis.

Characteristic	Description	Best practice
Comprehensive	A comprehensive schedule includes all activities for both the government and its contractors necessary to accomplish a project's objectives as defined in the project's work breakdown structure. The schedule includes the labor, materials, and overhead needed to do the work and depicts when those resources are needed and when they will be available. It realistically reflects how long each activity will take and allows for discrete progress measurement.	 Capturing all activities Assigning resources to all activities Establishing the durations of all activities
Controlled	A schedule is controlled if it is updated periodically by trained schedulers using actual progress and logic to realistically forecast dates for program activities. It is compared against a designated baseline schedule to measure, monitor, and report the project's progress. The baseline schedule is accompanied by a baseline document that explains the overall approach to the project, defines ground rules and assumptions, and describes the unique features of the schedule. The baseline schedule and current schedule are subject to a configuration management control process.	 Updating the schedule with actual progress and logic Maintaining a baseline schedule

Table 9: Four Characteristics of a High-Quality, Reliable Schedule Estimate and Associated Best Practices

⁶⁶GAO-16-89G.

⁶⁷GAO-16-89G.

Characteristic	Description	Best practice
Well-constructed	A schedule is well-constructed if all its activities are logically sequenced with the most straightforward logic possible. Unusual or complicated logic techniques are used	Sequencing all activities
	judiciously and justified in the schedule documentation. The schedule's critical path represents a true model of the activities that drive the project's earliest completion	Confirming that the critical path is valid
	date, and total float" accurately depicts schedule flexibility.	 Ensuring reasonable total float
Credible	A schedule that is credible is horizontally traceable—that is, it reflects the order of events necessary to achieve aggregated products or outcomes. It is also vertically traceable: activities in varying levels of the schedule map to one another and key dates presented to management in periodic briefings are in sync with the schedule. Data about risks and opportunities are used to predict a level of confidence in meeting the project's completion date. The level of necessary schedule contingency and high- priority risks and opportunities are identified by conducting a robust schedule risk analysis.	 Verifying that the schedule is traceable horizontally and vertically Conducting a schedule risk analysis

Source: GAO-16-89G. | GAO-16-403

^aTotal float is the amount of time by which a predecessor work activity can slip before the delay affects the project's estimated finish date.

Almost all of OI&T's processes for developing project schedules either partially addressed or did not address the 10 best practices. Specifically, the documentation for developing comprehensive, controlled, well-constructed, credible project schedules reflected 1 best practice, partially reflected 6 best practices, and did not reflect 3 best practices.

Without documented processes for developing schedules that reflect best practices, OI&T is at increased risk that schedules created for its projects will not be reliable and, therefore, will not be useful tools for measuring program performance against approved project plans. Table 10 summarizes the results of our assessment of whether OI&T's documented processes reflected the 4 characteristics of a high-quality, reliable schedule estimate, their associated best practices, and examples of our rationale for the assessment.

	GAO		GAO	
Charactariatia	of the	Post practice	of the best	Examples of rationals for the approximate
Comprehensive	o	Capturing all activities	0 0	While OI&T's processes required the identification of necessary contractor deliverables and core schedule elements for projects, its processes did not explicitly require project schedules to include all government and contractor activities. If the project schedule does not fully and accurately reflect all activities, it will not be an appropriate basis for analyzing or measuring technical work accomplished and may result in unreliable completion dates, time extension requests, and delays.
		Assigning resources to all activities	•	OI&T's processes required that activities have assigned resources and provide steps for updating resources, including specific activities that are resource dependent, resource default settings, and consequences for not using the recommended processes.
		Establishing the durations of all activities	O	While OI&T's processes required activity durations to be verified to ensure the proper duration, they did not include guidance for what should be considered in the verification and by whom. Further, OI&T's processes did not include guidance on the preferred business unit, such as working days, or on the use of calendars. Ensuring realistic calendars will provide for more accurate dates and may reveal opportunities to advance the work.
Controlled	O	Updating the schedule with actual progress and logic	O	Although Ol&T's processes addressed updating the schedule, they did not include how often schedules should be updated, if someone responsible for updating the schedule should be trained in the critical path method, whether the schedule structure should be examined after every update, and whether a schedule narrative is required with each schedule update. Without an accurately updated schedule, management may lack the ability to determine which activities have been completed, are in progress, are late, and are planned to start on time. In addition, the schedule may not be useful as a tool to monitor a project's progress.

 Table 10: Project Scheduling Characteristics and Their Associated Best Practices Addressed in the Office of Information & Technology's (OI&T) Documented Processes

	GAO		GAO	
	of the		of the best	
Characteristic	characteristic	Best practice	practice	Examples of rationale for the assessment
		Maintaining a baseline schedule	C	While OI&T's processes included information on how to create a baseline schedule, they did not include information on the change control process for baseline schedules and whether trend analysis on float, missed dates, and contingency is performed. By not controlling and fully documenting changes to the baseline, a project's performance cannot be accurately measured against the original plan. Further, undocumented or unapproved baseline changes may affect performance measurement, and potentially result in inconsistent reporting of schedule variances, inconsistent versions of the schedule, and unreliable schedule data.
Well- constructed	0	Sequencing all activities	D	While OI&T's processes included some requirements for sequencing activities, most of the sequencing best practices were not included. For example, although OI&T established processes for assigning predecessors and successors, they instruct project teams to use mandatory constraints to serve as the predecessor and successor of level-of-effort activities. Using mandatory constraints prevents both the acceleration and delay of activities, and it is contrary to best practices. Further, the processes did not require constraints and other logic anomalies to be justified in schedule documentation. When activities are not correctly sequenced, the integrated master schedule may not be able to promote efficiency and accuracy or control the program by comparing actual to planned progress as intended.
		Confirming that the critical path is valid	O	Ol&T's processes offered minimal guidance for confirming that the critical path is valid. Although the processes included requirements that the critical path is not to include level-of-effort activities and that the path should be free of date constraints, they did not state that the longest path and the path represented by critical activities should be the same. When the critical path is not the longest path, the longest path is preferred because it represents the activities that drive the sequence of start dates, which directly affect the estimated finish date. Without confirming a valid critical path, management may not focus on activities that could have detrimental effects on key project milestones and deliverables if they slip.
		Ensuring reasonable total float	0	Ol&T's processes did not include a requirement to develop, track, and ensure the validity of the project's total float. ^a Incorrect float estimates may result in an invalid critical path and an inaccurate assessment of project completion dates, and therefore may falsely depict the project's status.

Characteristic	GAO assessment of the characteristic	Best practice	GAO assessment of the best practice	Examples of rationale for the assessment
Credible	0	Verifying that the schedule is traceable horizontally and vertically	o	Ol&T's processes did not include requirements that the schedule be traceable horizontally and vertically. Unless the schedule is vertically traceable, lower-level schedules will not be consistent with upper-level schedule milestones, affecting the integrity of the entire schedule and the ability of different teams to work to the same schedule expectations. Further, without horizontal and vertical traceability, there is no valid critical path or assurance of reasonable float.
		Conducting a schedule risk analysis	0	OI&T's processes did not include a requirement to conduct a schedule risk analysis. Without this analysis, the project team cannot sufficiently understand the level of confidence in meeting the project's completion date or identifying schedule contingency.

Key:

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied all of the elements of the best practice.

• = The program office documented processes that satisfied some but not all elements of the best practice.

 \circ = The program office did not document processes that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

Source: GAO analysis of agency-provided data. | GAO-16-403

^aTotal float is the amount of time by which a predecessor work activity can slip before the delay affects the project's estimated finish date.

VA Officials Asserted That Inclusion of Missing Best Practices in Documented Processes Was Not Necessary	In discussing OI&T process documentation, officials in the Product Development and Service Delivery and Engineering offices, including an Assistant Deputy CIO within Product Development, stated that the department's documented IT processes did not include all of the selected best practices because they were considered basic, fundamental skills that a properly trained project planner should possess. The officials added that their inclusion would be overly burdensome and counterproductive when working in an Agile environment.
	However, the selected best practices do not apply to a particular development approach; rather, they were designed to provide value across different approaches, including Agile. In addition, documented processes are key to the consistent implementation of best practices that can withstand future leadership changes. Without incorporating these best practices into its processes, VA is at risk of missing critical steps that could help ensure that its processes are implemented as intended and are consistently applied across IT projects.

Conclusions	While VA has largely centralized the performance of key IT-related functions in OI&T, led by the CIO, it has faced challenges in fully implementing and managing IT under this organizational structure. In particular, the office has had difficulty in preventing IT activities from occurring outside the control of OI&T and PMAS. It has also been challenged in effectively collaborating with the department's various business units and in efficiently and cost-effectively delivering new IT capabilities. The OI&T transformation effort recently initiated by the CIO, and projected to be completed by the first quarter of 2017, is intended to address these and other challenges.			
	Ol&T has also taken steps to implement human capital management best practices by developing and documenting and beginning to update a human capital strategic plan that aligns with VA's strategic plans, creating action plans for implementing Ol&T human capital goals and objectives, reviewing its workforce quarterly, identifying skill gaps, and implementing a training program. However, without annually tracking and reviewing data related to leadership retirements or identifying skills needed in future years, VA will be hindered in ensuring that it has the leadership and staff with skills needed to support the successful delivery of IT capabilities.			
	Further, opportunities exist for VA to strengthen its processes for system development and acquisition by including key system development best practices. VA's documented processes for managing IT system development and acquisition generally reflected best practices in the key areas we reviewed. However, there were gaps in most of these areas. Ensuring that these processes address all key practices will assist the department in effectively managing its IT system development and acquisitions.			
Recommendations for Executive Action	To assist VA in sustaining an IT workforce with the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities to execute its mission and goals, we recommend that the Secretary of Veterans Affairs direct the Chief Information Officer to			
	 track and review OI&T historical workforce data and projections related to leadership retirements, and 			
	 identify IT skills needed beyond the current fiscal year to assist in identifying future skills gaps. 			
	To assist VA in establishing comprehensive and documented processes that reflect system development and acquisition best practices, we			

recommend that the Secretary of Veterans Affairs direct the Chief Information Officer to revise OI&T's documented processes related to project planning, to include (1) estimating the level of effort that will need to be expended for work products and tasks, and (2) making adjustments to the project plan to reconcile differences between estimated and available resources: requirements management, to include identifying changes to be made to plans and work products as a result of requirements baseline changes; risk management, to include (1) determining costs and benefits of implementing the risk mitigation plan for each risk and (2) collecting performance measures on risk handling activities; project monitoring and control, to include the 10 best practices that were missing from the guidance; process and product quality assurance, to include (1) documenting a description of the quality assurance reporting chain and defining how objectivity will be ensured, and (2) periodically reviewing open noncompliance issues and trends with management that is designated to receive and act on them; and project scheduling, to include the 9 best practices that were missing . from the guidance and revise the documented processes where the guidance was contrary to best practices. In written comments on a draft of our report (reprinted in appendix IV), VA Agency Comments generally agreed with our conclusions and concurred with our eight and Our Evaluation recommendations. Further, the department provided, and requested that we include in our report, information describing OI&T's new organizational structure and its cyber security initiative. We have incorporated this information in relevant sections of the report. VA's comments described steps that it had taken or planned to implement our recommendations. For example, the department asserted that it had taken steps that fully addressed our recommendation that it track and review OI&T historical workforce data and projections related to leadership retirements. In our follow up on the department's implementation of our recommendations, we will evaluate whether the actions noted are fully responsive to this recommendation.

The department also discussed planned actions for addressing our recommendation related to identifying future IT skills. Specifically, VA stated that it plans to, among other actions, include in the next skills gap analysis, long-term recommendations at the organizational level that show the types of skills each organization needs to increase and which proficiency level targets need the most emphasis.

Further, in response to our recommendations that it revise OI&T's documented processes related to project planning and requirements management, VA stated that it plans to document changes to these processes as the department transitions from PMAS to VIP. In addition, with respect to the majority of the remaining deficiencies in VA's documented processes—related to risk management, project monitoring and control, quality assurance, and project scheduling—the department stated that our recommendations are to be addressed through the implementation of VIP, Agile processes, and other systems development process tools.

According to VA, its actions in response to our recommendations are expected to be completed by the end of fiscal year 2017. If the department ensures that these and other activities it identified are appropriately documented and effectively implemented, then VA should be better positioned to sustain an IT workforce with the necessary knowledge, skills, and abilities to execute its mission and goals, and to ensure critical systems development and acquisition processes are implemented as intended and are consistently applied across IT projects.

As agreed with your offices, unless you publicly announce the contents of this report earlier, we plan no further distribution until 30 days from the report date. At that time, we will send copies to the Secretary of Veterans Affairs and other interested parties. In addition, the report is available at no charge on the GAO website at http://www.gao.gov.

Should you or your staffs have questions on matters discussed in this report, please contact me at (202) 512-6304. I can also be reached by e-mail at melvinv@gao.gov. Contact points for our Offices of Congressional Relations and Public Affairs may be found on the last page of this report.

GAO staff who made major contributions to this report are listed in appendix V.

Valerie C. Melnin

Valerie C. Melvin Director, Information Management and Technology Resources Issues

Appendix I: Objectives, Scope, and Methodology

The objectives of this study were to determine (1) how the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) is organized to manage and perform key information technology (IT)-related functions and the extent to which it has centralized the management of IT resources, (2) the extent to which VA has implemented effective IT human capital management, and (3) the extent to which VA has established key processes to effectively manage major system development and acquisition efforts.

To address the first objective, we obtained and reviewed the department's documentation identifying and describing its IT organizational structure and functions. These included the IT strategic plan, governance plan, organizational descriptions contained within the VA's Functional Organization Manual, the IT organization chart, and VA's project management framework user guides. In addition, we reviewed memoranda, testimony from VA officials, and assessment reports¹ that described the department's efforts to centralize the management of its IT resources and the challenges it faces in doing so. In addition, we obtained and reviewed the Chief Information Officer's (CIO) IT transformation strategy intended to address the challenges in maintaining a centralized program. We also interviewed responsible program officials regarding the organizational structure and performance of key IT-related functions.

To address the second objective, we reviewed information describing the department's management of its IT human capital, such as human capital strategic planning documentation, skills gap analyses, and human capital performance measures. We compared the department's actions to agency-level human capital management best practices that are also applicable to major agency components such as the Office of Information & Technology (OI&T). These best practices are those that we and the Office of Personnel Management (OPM) have identified. We also compared VA's actions against those required by VA's Office of Human Resources and Administration. These included practices for effective

¹MITRE, Assessment of The Department of Veterans Affairs Information and Technology Centralization (Oct. 3, 2008); IBM Center for The Business of Government, Transforming Information Technology at the Department of Veterans Affairs (2009); IBM, Single Leadership Authority Structure for the VA Information Technology Management System (Sept. 25, 2006); Gartner, OneVA IT Organizational Alignment Assessment Project (May 16, 2005); and Gartner, US Department of Veterans Affairs Federated Information Technology System Model (Feb. 17, 2006).

strategic human capital planning, workforce planning, and strategic training. The practices are identified in our Key Principles for Effective Strategic Workforce Planning; ² OPM's final regulations to implement certain provisions of the Chief Human Capital Officers Act of 2002; ³ and VA's Workforce and Succession Planning directive. ⁴ We also interviewed officials responsible for the department's IT human capital management.

For the third objective, we reviewed policies, procedures, and supporting documentation describing the department's key processes for managing major IT system development and acquisition efforts. We assessed the processes against key best practices that the Software Engineering Institute (SEI) and we have identified. The practices we selected are fundamental to effective IT system development and acquisition. These included recognized practices for project planning, requirements management, risk management, project monitoring and control, project validation, quality assurance, and project schedules. These practices are identified in SEI's Capability Maturity Model® Integration (CMMI®) for Development, Version 1.3;⁵ SEI's CMMI® for Acquisition, Version 1.3;⁶ and our Schedule Assessment Guide.⁷ Further, we reviewed systems development lifecycle policies, procedures, and other supporting documentation such as templates for required project artifacts within the department's ProPath system⁸ and Project Management Accountability

²GAO, *Human Capital: Key Principles for Effective Strategic Workforce Planning*, GAO-04-39 (Washington, D.C., Dec. 11, 2003).

³73 Fed. Reg. 23012 (Apr. 28, 2008).

⁴VA, VA Directive 5002: Department of Veterans Affairs Workforce and Succession *Planning* (Washington, D.C., Jan. 15, 2003).

⁵SEI, *CMMI*® for *Development, Version 1.3*, CMU/SEI-2010-TR-033 (November 2010, Hanscom AFB, Mass.). The SEI is a federally funded research and development center operated by Carnegie Mellon University.

⁶SEI, *CMMI*® for Acquisition, Version 1.3, CMU/SEI-2010-TR-032 (November 2010, Hanscom AFB, Mass.).

⁷GAO, Schedule Assessment Guide: Best Practices for Project Schedules, GAO-16-89G (Washington, D.C.: December 2015).

⁸ProPath is a repository for systems development artifacts, procedures, and processes.

System (PMAS).⁹ The scope of our review did not include assessment of VA's implementation of these processes.

Our methodology to determine the extent to which VA included systems development and scheduling best practices developed by SEI and us in its procedures and guidance included three levels of compliance: (1) the program office provided evidence that satisfied the elements of the best practice, (2) the program office provided evidence that satisfied some but not all of the elements of the best practice, and (3) the program office provided no evidence that satisfied the elements of the best practice.

We conducted this performance audit from February 2015 to August 2016 in accordance with generally accepted government auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives.

⁹PMAS is VA's approach to IT project development and delivery and the means of holding IT project managers accountable for meeting cost, schedule, and scope. PMAS was designed to reduce project implementation risks, institute monitoring and controls, establish accountability, and create a reporting discipline. In January 2016, VA began transitioning from PMAS to the Veteran-focused Integration Process (VIP). VA plans to modify the Department's current methodology into a single, unified, and streamlined release process that will focus on delivering high-quality and secure IT capabilities to the veteran. VA plans to complete the transition to VIP by the end of fiscal year 2016.

Appendix II: Timeline of VA's Efforts to Organize the Management of IT Functions

The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) has had a long history of organizing its information technology (IT) functions. The information contained in table 11 describes key events in the department's efforts.

Month/Year	Event	Description
July 1990	IT resources decentralized	VA's IT resources were moved from a centralized model to a decentralized model where key IT functions were performed and managed by its components—Veterans Benefits Administration, Veterans Health Administration, and National Cemetery Administration.
July 1998	Chief Information Officer (CIO) position established	The VA Secretary established the position of Assistant Secretary for Information and Technology to serve as the department-level CIO, focus on information and technology management, and provide the missing emphasis on information and technology issues.
August 2001	CIO position filled	The CIO position was filled in August 2001, but IT resources continued to be managed by each administration's CIO, rather than by the department-level CIO in the Office of Information & Technology.
August 2002	Secretary announces IT realignment	The VA Secretary announced the need to reorganize IT management and financing. The realignment was intended to centralize IT functions, programs, workforce personnel, and funding into the office of the department-level CIO—the Office of Information & Technology (OI&T). In particular, the CIOs in each of the three administrations were to be designated deputy CIOs and were to report directly to the department-level CIO by October 2002. (Previously, as component- level CIOs, these officials had reported only to their respective administrations' undersecretaries.) In addition, the Secretary stated that the department-level CIO would assume executive authority over VA's IT funding by October 2002.
May 2003	Secretary approves centralization plan	Under the approved centralization plan, deputy CIOs would remain in their respective administrations, but were to take technical direction from the department-level CIO.
February 2005	Contractor assessment recommends centralization of VA's IT program	VA's CIO directed a team of external consultants to conduct an assessment of the department's IT program. The purpose of the assessment was to ensure that all personnel were appropriately aligned to efficiently deliver program management, operational support, and systems design and development. The results of the assessment showed that similar activities, such as application development, infrastructure development, and asset management, were being performed across multiple OI&T groups, as well as other organizations led by the deputy CIOs within each of the three administrations. Further, the assessment concluded that the existing IT organization of effort.

Table 11: Timeline of Department of Veterans Affairs Efforts to Organize its IT Functions

Month/Year	Event	Description
October 2005	Secretary approves federated IT system concept	Under this concept, IT operational services and information security, as well as the associated budget, were intended to be centralized within OI&T and overseen by the department-level CIO, while IT systems development responsibilities and the associated budget were to remain with the administrations and other individual business units. The Secretary's plan was to eventually bring systems development under OI&T. In addition, the CIO would retain oversight responsibilities for all IT projects within VA.
November 2005	Military Quality of Life and Veterans Affairs Appropriations Act, 2006	This act established a new appropriation account for the department's IT systems, including development, acquisition, operation, and maintenance.
March 2006	Secretary approves federated system plan and assigns operations and maintenance staff to OI&T	IT professionals performing operations and maintenance functions across the department were assigned to OI&T as a result of the approved federated system plan.
September 2006	Contractor assisting in implementing federated system recommends VA centralize all IT functions	VA's contractor for assisting the department in applying best business processes to the federated structure recommended that VA consolidate all IT leadership authorities, including systems development, under the department-level CIO. The contractor pointed to three primary reasons for doing so:
		IT and health care industry trends that demanded increased levels of interoperability and the adoption of standards;
		an August 22, 2006, presidential executive order that emphasized adherence to interoperability standards, and standard measurements of quality, as well as transparency of cost and pricing data; and
		VA's increasing awareness of the benefits associated with transitioning from the current multiple leadership structure under the federated model to a single IT leadership authority.
October 2006	Secretary approves realignment of all IT resources under OI&T	The Secretary approved an Executive Decision Memo from the CIO stating that it was in the best interest of VA to formally transition from the federated structure to a fully centralized organization structure.
April 2007	Systems development staff assigned to OI&T	The Deputy Secretary directed that all identified VA personnel dedicated to the IT development organizations of the Veterans Benefits Administration, Veterans Health Administration, National Cemetery Administration, staff offices, and other VA organizations, with the exception of the Office of Inspector General, be assigned to OI&T.

Source: GAO analysis of VA data. | GAO-16-403

Appendix III: Summary of VA's Office of Information & Technology Human Capital Goals, Objectives, and Strategies

The Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Office of Information & Technology (OI&T) developed a 6-year human capital strategic plan in September 2013. The information contained in table 12 describes the goals, objectives, and strategies outlined in OI&T's strategic human capital plan.

Table 12: Department of Veterans Affairs Office of Information & Technology (OI&T) Human Capital Goals, Objectives, and Strategies

Objectives	Strategies		
Goal 1: Maximize employee talent through recruitment, outreach, hiring, and retention			
Improve the applicant and new hire experience and ensure that the people hired actually have the skills needed to perform the job; make more accurate	Develop and deploy an integrated workforce plan and database which will enable the agency to hire and retain the right talent, at the right time, in the right place.		
occupations about what types and now many of certain occupations the organization needs for the future.	Conduct a formal review of the orientation process and develop and implement a plan to streamline and improve employee orientation and on-boarding.		
Implement a comprehensive recruitment program that ensures stakeholders are trained in operating procedures that contribute to the success of hiring the required skills	Ensure leaders and selected officials are fully engaged in the recruitment and hiring efforts, and understand how to select the right employee for the right job.		
for mission chucal positions.	Develop and implement a training program tailored specifically for the stakeholders.		
	Encourage open feedback to ensure employees can speak freely on issues and that they are assured of defined direction of authority on policies and procedures.		
Identify critical positions that ensure continued operations in support of VA services.	Appoint a point-of-contact in each office to coordinate and oversee the development and maintenance of workforce planning (living document) information.		
	Develop "tailored" formal OI&T workforce planning training for managers, supervisors, and points-of-contact to include training for workforce planning documentation.		
Acquire a better understanding of why employees leave OI&T and what can be done to retain skilled and productive employees.	Encourage open feedback between supervisors (at all levels) and departing employees so supervisors understand why employees are departing OI&T.		
	Encourage all employees to participate in the exit survey prior to their departure.		
Goal 2: Sustain a productive, diverse workforce and achieve results by valuing and recognizing performance in an environment in which all employees are encouraged to contribute			
Build and improve the OI&T future workforce performance management culture to influence a variety of workforce management decisions and employee perceptions.	Utilize strategic planning methods and workforce analysis to align and recruit critical positions that add value to the OI&T mission.		
	Provide training that increases mission awareness and diversity sensitivity, and results in an improvement in productivity and impacts the organizational bottom line.		
	Improve employee engagement, job satisfaction, and organizational performance.		

Objectives	Strategies
	Develop a robust awards and recognition program.
Build a diverse OI&T workforce that embraces the diversity of the population of veterans and organizations	Use innovate recruitment strategies and outreach efforts to expand the pool of qualified diverse candidates for vacancies.
that we service.	Promote the use of training opportunities that enhance the understanding of conflict resolution and Equal Employment Opportunity policies and procedures. Encourage diversity and inclusion in the workforce and the workplace.
	Promote minorities, Pathways, and veterans outreach programs and internal advancement strategies to enhance the recruiting, hiring, and promoting of qualified minorities and veterans.
	Increase the percentage of the workforce identified as minorities, veterans, or having a targeted disability.
Eliminate competency gaps in mission critical	Identify major competency gaps and develop training to eliminate gaps.
occupations.	Provide training that will improve job proficiency, increase awareness, and have a positive impact on the organization's mission.
	Implement goal-based, individual performance plans.
	Develop a mechanism to identify emerging competencies as well as legacy competencies.
Goal 3: Ensure OI&T supports a culture of leadership a	nd continuous learning
Eliminate competency gaps in key leadership positions.	Identify and implement tools and processes to identify and define the competencies that OI&T leaders must develop and retain to ensure OI&T leadership has the right skills it needs to meet organizational goals.
	Perform recurring training needs assessment and continuously design training to improve organizational and individual performance.
Train, develop, and retain OI&T employees to fill future	Develop leadership succession plans, including leadership gap analyses.
key leadership vacancies.	Evaluate the training and development program to determine how well it meets short- and long-range program needs, and develop an action plan to address any needs.
	Establish or leverage a leadership curriculum for all supervisors and managers to invest in the continuous development of leadership (e.g., the IT Workforce Development group's Basic Elements for Supervisory Training curriculum).
	Leverage internal and external learning opportunities for all employees, using a variety of learning tools and processes that provide opportunity for continuous learning.
Goal 4: Ensure the Human Capital Strategic Plan is alig	ned with other VA strategic plans and integrated workforce planning
Expand the human capital efforts into a comprehensive program that includes human capital planning, collaboration with other staff, and accountability for human capital operations.	Ensure that a robust human capital planning program is implemented encompassing input from all pillars.
	Ensure leadership buy-in in for the human capital management program.
	Transition human capital management from a management-by-budget to a management-by-position program.

Objectives	Strategies
	Develop strategy to communicate with all Human Resource Service Stations that provide support to OI&T employees.
Develop an OI&T-wide integrated workforce analysis capability (e.g., ability to analyze workforce demographics	Implement a workforce planning process to proactively identify needed skills, staffing requirements, and strategies to meet organizational goals.
and key hiring and turnover metrics), that enables data driven strategic and operational human capital management decision-making.	Coordinate with the Austin-Human Resource Center and other supporting human resource centers on achieving transactional excellence (e.g., excellence in processing personnel actions, recruiting, hiring, and staffing actions).

Source: VA, Office of Information & Technology Human Capital Strategic Plan 2014-2020, September 30, 2013. | GAO-16-403

Appendix IV: Comments from the Department of Veterans Affairs

-	
	DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS Washington DC 20420
	luly 15, 2016
	ouly 10, 2010
Ms. Valerie Melvin Director, Information Man	agement and
Technology Resources	Issues htability Office
441 G Street, NW	
Washington, DC 20548	
Dear Ms. Melvin:	
The Department Accountability Office's (G <i>Largely Centralized; Ad</i> <i>and Systems Developm</i> GAO's conclusions and c	of Veterans Affairs (VA) has reviewed the Government AO) draft report, "VA IT MANAGEMENT: Organization Is Iditional Actions Could Improve Human Capital Practices thent Processes" (GAO-16-403). VA generally agrees with concurs with GAO's recommendations.
VA would like to Technology's (Ol&T) Org Ol&T's transformation cyl and project plan. The org Cybersecurity Strategy P taken to address the GA0	request that GAO include the Office of Information and anizational Structure, as well as a general discussion on ber security initiative, the Enterprise Cybersecurity strategy ganization chart and information on the Enterprise lan are enclosed. The enclosure sets forth the action to be O draft report recommendations.
x	Sincerely,
	STAS. Correl
	Gina S. Farrisee Deputy Chief of Staff
Enclosures	
Endodated	
59	




	Enclosure
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Comments to Government Accountability Office (GAO) Draft Repo "VA IT MANAGEMENT: Organization Is Largely Centralized; Ac Could Improve Human Capital Practices and Systems Developm (GAO-16-403)	rt Iditional Actions nent Processes"
organizing, cross-functional teams. OI&T is implementing these chan transitioning projects currently in PMAS over to VIP and employing the Tool Suite for all IT projects. OI&T is providing VIP training modules, accessible through TMS, and specific Agile training and mentoring. R be tracked using the IBM Rational Tools Suite. The tool can provide a original baseline and all captured changes in the form of an audit trail history of requirement changes. Target Completion Date: End of FY	ges by e IBM Rational which are lequirements will a snapshot of the that captures the 2017
<u>GAO Recommendation 5:</u> revise OI&T's documented processes management, to include (1) determining costs and benefits of im risk mitigation plan for each risk and (2) collecting performance handling activities.	related to risk plementing the measures on risk
VA Comment: Concur. The IBM Rational Tool Suite will be used to project/product risks and issues. This allows a standard Risk and Issued, and provides standard reporting for all product teams using Rat Concert and VIP. The tool suite will allow requirements to be linked to provide traceability. By recording project risks and issues, as well as responses that have been implemented to mitigate them, teams can t steps taken to mitigate risks. While risks are not versioned in the tool trail shows the history of changes made to each risk. This information combining tracked changes made to requirements, tasks and risks, pridata and tracking of the risks. Under VIP, project risks requiring leaders at the weekly CIOStat meetings. In addition, the Office of Privestablish risk mitigation strategies for the OI&T enterprise. Target Co End of FY 2017	manage ue process to be ional Team o risks, which will effective rack and report suite, an audit n, along with rovides detailed ership assistance other senior vacy and Risk will mpletion Date:
<u>Recommendation 6:</u> revise OI&T's documented processes relate monitoring and control, to include the 10 best practices that were the guidance.	ed to project e missing from
VA Comment: Concur. The implementation of VIP and Agile process will address the majority of best practices related to project monitoring GAO felt were missing from OI&T's documented processes. GAO red OI&T periodically review the status of stakeholder involvement to ensistakeholders are involved regularly; and document the results of stakeholders through implementation of Agile methodologies, which requires stakeholders the stakeholder involvement at the state of the set of th	eses within OI&T g and control that commended that ure that eholder the to be involved in
the daily scrum meetings, user acceptance testing, and acceptance of Data management activities, issues, and impacts will be managed us IBM Rational Tools.	ing VIP, Agile, and



Enclosure Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Comments to Government Accountability Office (GAO) Draft Report "VA IT MANAGEMENT: Organization Is Largely Centralized; Additional Actions Could Improve Human Capital Practices and Systems Development Processes" (GAO-16-403) practices associated with project scheduling. The use of short development builds within Agile, to deliver agreed upon functionality, increases the probability of successful adherence to the schedule. Agile also provides the flexibility to make schedule changes using the backlog to prioritize requirements, and sequence when they will be developed. Target Completion Date: End of FY 2017 5

Appendix V: GAO Contact and Staff Acknowledgments

GAO Contact	Valerie C. Melvin, (202) 512-6304 or melvinv@gao.gov
Staff Acknowledgments	In addition to the contact named above, Mark Bird (Assistant Director), Nicole Jarvis (Analyst in Charge), Christopher Businsky, Juana Collymore, Sharhonda Deloach, Jason Lee, Lee McCracken, and Christy Tyson made key contributions to this report.

GAO's Mission	The Government Accountability Office, the audit, evaluation, and investigative arm of Congress, exists to support Congress in meeting its constitutional responsibilities and to help improve the performance and accountability of the federal government for the American people. GAO examines the use of public funds; evaluates federal programs and policies; and provides analyses, recommendations, and other assistance to help Congress make informed oversight, policy, and funding decisions. GAO's commitment to good government is reflected in its core values of accountability, integrity, and reliability.
Obtaining Copies of GAO Reports and Testimony	The fastest and easiest way to obtain copies of GAO documents at no cost is through GAO's website (http://www.gao.gov). Each weekday afternoon, GAO posts on its website newly released reports, testimony, and correspondence. To have GAO e-mail you a list of newly posted products, go to http://www.gao.gov and select "E-mail Updates."
Order by Phone	The price of each GAO publication reflects GAO's actual cost of production and distribution and depends on the number of pages in the publication and whether the publication is printed in color or black and white. Pricing and ordering information is posted on GAO's website, http://www.gao.gov/ordering.htm.
	Place orders by calling (202) 512-6000, toll free (866) 801-7077, or TDD (202) 512-2537.
	Orders may be paid for using American Express, Discover Card, MasterCard, Visa, check, or money order. Call for additional information.
Connect with GAO	Connect with GAO on Facebook, Flickr, Twitter, and YouTube. Subscribe to our RSS Feeds or E-mail Updates. Listen to our Podcasts and read The Watchblog. Visit GAO on the web at www.gao.gov.
To Report Fraud.	Contact:
Waste, and Abuse in Federal Programs	Website: http://www.gao.gov/fraudnet/fraudnet.htm E-mail: fraudnet@gao.gov Automated answering system: (800) 424-5454 or (202) 512-7470
Congressional Relations	Katherine Siggerud, Managing Director, siggerudk@gao.gov, (202) 512- 4400, U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7125, Washington, DC 20548
Public Affairs	Chuck Young, Managing Director, youngc1@gao.gov, (202) 512-4800 U.S. Government Accountability Office, 441 G Street NW, Room 7149 Washington, DC 20548

